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ON THE OCCASION OF HIS DEATH


‘Malcolm Fraser was not an avid social reformer like Whitlam, nor a mould-breaking economic reformer like Hawke, but he gave the country what we needed at that time. He restored economic responsibility while recognising social change.’


The Hon. Tony Abbott


‘Malcolm Fraser was always more than the sum of his aspirations. He was broader and bigger than his opponents imagined possible, and he was both shyer and smarter than people appreciated. Beyond the stern visage and the Easter Island jaw, beloved of cartoonists, beat the heart of a humanitarian.’


The Hon. Bill Shorten


‘Malcolm Fraser never accepted the status quo and always sought to advance humanity by challenging the norms and by not allowing society to turn a blind eye to social challenges.’


The Hon. Julie Bishop


‘[Malcolm Fraser] was focused on the future. But he did so in a thoroughly positive way and, in that respect, gave all of us an example that we should at every stage, like Fraser and like Whitlam did, drive the negativity and hatred and bitterness out of ourselves, fill it with love because that makes us stronger and makes our nation stronger.’


The Hon. Malcolm Turnbull


‘His public life also enshrined other important principles: no truck with race or colour and no tolerance for whispered notions of exclusivity tinged by race. These principles applied throughout his political life.’


The Hon. Paul Keating


‘I had an absolute unqualified respect and admiration for one particular aspect of the political career of Malcolm Fraser and that was he was impeccable on the questions of race and colour.’


The Hon. Bob Hawke


‘Malcolm Fraser was one of Australia’s statesmen, long after leaving parliamentary politics he continued to contribute in the public sphere through his writing and advocacy on international and national issues. As a memoirist, Malcolm Fraser was focused on the central issues of policy and the practice of government. He was a steadfastly independent thinker, always a robust critic of injustice and deeply committed to ensuring Australia remains a civil society.’


Louise Adler, Chief Executive Officer, Melbourne University Publishing and Malcolm Fraser’s publisher


‘Malcolm Fraser was, more than anything, an activist. It was rare indeed for him to decide the right thing to do was nothing. He believed in his own agency in the world, and in Australia as a power for good.’


Margaret Simons, co-author, The Political Memoirs
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A Note from the Narrator


This book is part memoir and part authorised biography. It is Malcolm Fraser’s book, yet also the product of a collaboration between him and me, Margaret Simons. Doing it this way was Fraser’s choice. He wanted somebody else involved, and more than just a ghost writer. He wanted to expose his record to a questioning if not a critical eye. ‘I don’t think there is any point in a book that is mere self-justification’, he said when we first met. He wanted to be questioned. This, together with research and organising the material, was my role. I am the narrator or, if you like, the curator of this account of Fraser’s life and work. After this note I will disappear behind the material.


It seemed to me and to the publisher, Louise Adler, that this book should be written in the first person, since it was conceived as a memoir. Fraser firmly vetoed that idea. ‘Is there any way that it can be in the first person without me having to say “I, I, I” all the time?’ he said, giving a little self-mocking grimace to each repetition of the word ‘I’.


He was told there was not: that saying ‘I’ was what first person meant.


‘Well, I don’t want to say “I, I, I”.’


That is where my job began. My voice was to intercede between the ‘I’ and the reader. Yet there were times when Fraser wanted to speak for himself and in his own voice—particularly on politics and policy. The third person, fortunately, both avoids the ‘I, I, I’ and is flexible enough to allow for the Fraser that emerged in our interviews sometimes to speak directly to the reader.


At that first meeting, before I had agreed to take on the project, I asked Fraser if there were limits to what he would talk about. Would he, for example, talk frankly about the dismissal of the Whitlam government? He said that he was bored with that and it was much less important than some of the other things there were to talk about. Then he said, in tones of mild surprise, ‘You know, some people I work with now on human rights say they used to hate me back then’.


I said, ‘Perhaps you killed their dreams’.


He went long-faced in the way that only Malcolm Fraser can, and replied, ‘They were dreams that had to die’.


I think that was the moment in which I decided to take on the project.


Later, I teased Fraser that he wanted to write a memoir yet by his own admission hated talking about himself (‘Absolutely loathe it’, he agreed) and, even at the age of seventy-nine, preferred to think about the present and the future rather than the past. ‘Well, the future is so much more interesting’, he said. The past was of interest only to the extent that it illuminated the present and offered lessons for the future.


Fraser has never written his own account of the key events of his career. Nor has he read the accounts of others. He has not read, for example, the memoirs of Sir John Kerr or Gough Whitlam, or the books written by political journalists about the way in which he came to power and the impact of his prime ministership. Nor would he have collaborated in the writing of this account but for the fact that he wanted a book that spoke from his experience to the present and the future. He wanted more than a memoir. His motivation for collaborating with this book has been to talk about the continuing importance of the values that have shaped his life and his career. These values are what he sees as the core of liberalism. They are simply stated: respect for the individual, a commitment to individual liberty under the law and the principle that the strong should protect the weak. The story of how they play out, how they are frustrated, how they occasionally triumph and why they must be safeguarded is largely what this book is about.


From his earliest political speeches Fraser eschewed rigid ideologies or counsels of human perfection. Liberalism was pragmatic, he said, and flexible. This was what distinguished it from competing schemes of political thought. Liberalism would play out in different ways depending on the times and the people concerned, but the values at the core did not alter. It is this conception of liberalism that has motivated him to collaborate in this book. ‘It’s quite possible to talk about these things without saying that I always lived up to them’, he said at an early stage in the project.


So how did we proceed? I interviewed Fraser on roughly a weekly basis for more than a year. Sometimes we met in his office in Collins Street, Melbourne, with its sweeping city views. We were often interrupted by the telephone. It quickly became clear to me that Fraser was still at the centre of a vast network and still involved, sometimes explicitly but much more often behind the scenes, in politics and public life. He spoke to Kevin Rudd in the lead-up to the 2007 federal election. He was one of those who persuaded Liberal Opposition Leader Brendan Nelson to take part in the apology to the stolen generations in the early days of the Rudd government. At the same time, sometimes in back-to-back phone calls, he lobbied the Minister for Aboriginal Affairs, Jenny Macklin, on the politics of preparing for that apology. Later he was in contact with his former staffer David Kemp, now President of the Victorian Liberal Party, over the reforms needed to revive the party. Again and again I saw him make phone calls to the most senior in the land on all sides of politics. Sometimes the calls were prompted by the topics of our conversations. At other times he was simply busy—still—with the affairs of the nation, and our interviews had to give way. He was nearly always put through straightaway or received a return call in minutes. Once, he was making a call to the Prime Minister’s office, and was told that the person he was after was in a meeting. ‘Well, it’s Malcolm Fraser here he began. The person on the other end of the line immediately decided that the target of the call was available after all. Fraser covered the mouthpiece and gave me an arch smile. ‘The games people play’, he said. All this was a telling insight into the continued power of Malcolm Fraser: partly the aura of having held the prime ministership, partly the standing of the man himself.


Other interviews were conducted at his Mornington Peninsula home. His dogs sat on our feet, pinched the biscuits Tamie had given us and punctuated our talk with their snuffles and demands for attention. Sometimes the recordings include sudden interjections from Fraser: ‘Go away; you are being a damn nuisance’. Fortunately he was only sometimes talking to me.


Because of his bad back—a legacy of lifting 180-pound bags of superphosphate on the farm years ago—Fraser would sit erect in a high, hard-backed chair, while I sat below him on the couch or across the desk, surrounded by papers and notes. He often laughed, but rarely relaxed. There were no-go areas to do with his personal life and, most of all, his children. Some of our interviews were tough. Sometimes the questions made him angry. There were also times when he was visibly moved; once was when he was talking about his childhood and the frustrations of his parents’ policy of children being seen and not heard. In his view, it is this, and the extraordinary solitude of his early years, that are to blame—if that is the word— for what others see as aloofness, and he describes as shyness. These things are also, surely, among the reasons for his extraordinary self-sufficiency. He spoke about how his grandchildren had been raised differently. ‘For a long while I just didn’t want to speak to anyone. I’d been told children should be seen and not heard. Children were not meant to say anything. Tell that to my grandchildren. They never stop chattering. Hamish comes in, he’s the youngest, and says, “Grandad, I’ve got a joke. Come on. I’m making it up!” They are never going to be diffident! They are never going to be shy.’ His voice cracked. He paused and went on. ‘Today’s kids get up at school from a very young age and say what happened over the weekend and whatever. The whole idea is that people express themselves. I think I was brought up in an environment where people were told not to express themselves. But the other part of that was people thought you couldn’t hear. They thought that adults could talk about you and you wouldn’t understand. Yet you understood absolutely what was being said and then, you know, they would realise that you understood and they’d start spelling the word. I can remember saying to my parents, “What are you spelling it for, because I can spell just as well as you and I know exactly what you are saying”. They just didn’t want me to understand.’


There was a moment of silence. Then Fraser coughed and said, ‘Well. There you are’.


I came to understand his thick reserve—possessed by all the Frasers I met—as inseparable from his sense of dignity. The reserve and the reluctance to talk about himself were constant challenges for an interviewer wanting to bring a sense of the man to his readers. Yet in the end I came to like him for it. There may be other ways of maintaining personal dignity in the midst of public life, but this has been his.


Another time Fraser was moved was when we were talking about the Vietnam War. During his time as Army Minister, administering conscription, a member of his electorate attacked him in the bar of the Henty Hotel in Portland because his son’s marble had been drawn in the lottery, and he was off to the war. ‘I tried to explain why, but there is nothing you can say to persuade a parent that that’s a good thing, especially when he was a good solid Labor man.’ Nine months later Fraser was in the same bar and the man attacked him again, because his son had gone and married ‘one of them women’—a Vietnamese—and was bringing her home. But the next time Fraser was in the bar, the man came up and wanted to buy him a beer, saying, ‘That girl, she’s the best thing that ever happened to our family’. Fraser said, ‘So she would have known that she had a very hostile father-in-law, coming to Australia to that hostility. But she brought him round. Can you imagine …’ Fraser stopped speaking. There was a long silence. We looked at each other. Then, once again, he broke it with a cough and the words ‘Well. There you are’.


As well as conducting the interviews, I spent time digging in the archives in both Melbourne and Canberra, finding records of who Fraser was and what he thought many years ago, when the Cold War was raging and the Soviet threat seemed immense and imminent in a visceral way that is difficult to understand today. There was also work in discovering the ways in which the narrative of the Fraser government, as revealed by the archives, differs from that put about by his political enemies—not least his enemies within the Liberal Party. At the end of this work it seemed clear to me that the Fraser government is one of the most misunderstood and misrepresented governments in our history. Part of Fraser’s motives for collaborating in this account is to correct the record—but repeatedly he declined to rely on his memory alone. He would proceed only when he knew the documentary proof was available. Although Fraser often protested in our interviews that his memory for details was poor, it became common for him to say something that seemed doubtful to me, only to be proved correct when I found it independently confirmed by the archival record.


In time I came to agree with Fraser: there were many more important things to talk about in this book than the dismissal, even though that is a topic that has its place and shall not be avoided. ‘If the headlines when this book comes out are “New Information about the Dismissal”, then in my view we will have failed’, said Fraser. Success, to him, meant discussion about liberal ideals and how they should play out in present-day Australia. He wanted to talk, as always, about policy, about how to run a government and a country, and about the things that really matter in politics and public life. David Kemp, who was closer to Fraser than anyone other than family during his years as Prime Minister, told me that in his opinion Fraser was the most idealistic Prime Minister Australia has ever had, and probably the one most focussed on policy. Fraser believes, said Kemp, in ‘will with a capital W’—in the efficacy of political leadership, in activism, in pushing through.


Fraser is not a man who easily makes stories of his life. In this, I think, he is unlike most of us, who shape our lives in the telling. Fraser is reluctant or perhaps even unable to do this. Shaping the story, curating the material, was my job. Our interactions were not always easy. There were topics that he had to be persuaded to talk about. There are certainly things in this book that Fraser would not have mentioned or explored left to himself. Nevertheless, it is his book, his story, and there is nothing between these covers that he has not authorised.


Fraser does not lack a sense of theme and meaning. The speech everyone remembers him by, the one in which he said that life was not meant to be easy, he wrote himself.1 This was in 1971, at a time when his political career appeared to be wrecked. It seemed to him impossible that he would ever become this country’s leader. In the popular imagination the ‘Life wasn’t meant to be easy’ line has been reduced to a joke, or a jibe, given that Fraser was born comparatively wealthy. Yet in its original context the line is powerful and moving—the conclusion to a discussion of liberalism and the history of nations, and what a nation needs from its people. The full sentence reads: ‘There is within me some part of the metaphysic, and thus I would add that life is not meant to be easy’.


The metaphysic? Fraser is not religious, and yet thinks religion is a necessary thing—that if it did not exist it would have to be quickly invented. People need a sense of higher purpose. ‘I would probably like to be less logical and, you know, really to be able to believe there is a god, whether it is Allah, or the Christian god, or some other … But I think I studied too much philosophy. You can never know.’ And yet he acknowledges a liking for inspirational preaching and words that soar, thoughts that inspire. He acknowledges a sense of higher purpose—a spiritual sense. I suggested to him once that he was an idealist. He paused, patted a dog, then said, ‘Well, that is what it has all been about, really’.





Prelude


In the wet autumn of 1949, Malcolm Fraser left home for a month-long trip through New South Wales with his friend Gavin Casey. Fraser was just out of school, not yet nineteen. He was a tall young man—all arms and legs—and plagued by shyness. He had been in the debating society at school but had not acquitted himself well. When called to speak, he would find that without realising it he had torn up his notes in the agony of waiting, his hands needing something to do. He would stand up, say a very few words, and sit down again. Now, in a few weeks, he would be leaving for Oxford University. Although he was only dimly aware of it, he was on the brink of his intellectual and emotional awakening.


At Oxford he would first be made to feel small—aware of how little his education and background had prepared him for wrestling with the big and urgent ideas of his time. Then he would discover that this, the time in which he was coming to adulthood, was one for hope and for great things. The world war was over and a new machinery of international affairs was being constructed. At Oxford it seemed that humankind might at last find new and better ways of organising itself. Fraser would return to Australia determined to do more with his life than just farming.


But now, in March 1949, he was still emerging from boyhood. On his trip round New South Wales he kept a journal.1 Reading through it today, it seems he was almost consciously trying on his adult self for size. There is, in the day-by-day entries, the mixture of pragmatism and idealism that came to characterise the mature man. He was a farmer’s son. He had an eye for productivity and detail. He had strong opinions. He noted the pay rate for grape-pickers at Mildura (fourteen shillings and sixpence a tin), the quality of the livestock in the farms they visited and the number of sheep per acre. He also reflected on history and on the nature of his country. He tried to capture the beauty of the landscape and how it moved him.


He was itching for independence. He was happy to go to Oxford because it was on the other side of the world; he would have resisted going to Melbourne University. After experiencing school mostly as restriction, he wanted freedom. He was the product of an early childhood quite extraordinary for its isolation, solitude and lack of conversation. In his family, children were not consulted. Always, the adults seemed to be having conversations about him just out of his hearing. The likelihood was that, like most farmers’ sons, he would live at home at least until marriage. ‘You had no control over your life’, he remembers. ‘I thought I needed, at some stage, to be in an environment where I was making my own decisions. Being halfway round the world put you more in that sort of environment than if you are near home.’


Fraser and Casey set out in a farm truck along roads that were more dirt than bitumen. On the first day, they passed from the timbered, park-like country around Fraser’s home farm of Nareen in Victoria’s Western District on to the red plains of the Wimmera and then on to the Mallee, where the road rose and fell over apparently endless successions of sand dunes, and every paddock seemed to contain the ruined remains of a farm house. Fraser wrote in his journal:


 


For the first time I saw what much of Australia was really like … Erosion, nature’s dreaded weapon, in these dry lands is painfully evident. Paddocks laid bare by the plough have been blasted by the wind and rain but still the farmers sow their wheat and reap the harvest that can never be sure and safe. It was in these dry but rich wheat lands of Australia that the soldier settlers, after World War I, strived for a living. For some the struggle was too great and the Mallee scrub reclaimed the farms as her own. But others, endowed with dogged courage and fortitude, have grown to love the Mallee and the hard healthy life which it means.


Coming into Mildura, they swam in the Murray River at Lock 11, and toured the orchards and packing sheds. Fraser reflected on the ‘truly remarkable’ wonders of the irrigation settlement. Then on to Broken Hill through salt bush and sand.


 


Travelling in the half light, with the freshening wind stirring up dust storms all along the road, and with the sinking sun lighting up the red dust all round the sky produced a strange atmosphere of solitude. Soon, as the sun sank beneath the western sky, the lightning from the approaching storm lit up the horizon … The almost savage beauty and allure of the country impressed itself upon us and we could easily see that any man who spent a few years here would never leave it for the closer settled areas.


They had arranged to stay with landholders along the route. Near Broken Hill they stayed with the White family of Willow Point Station, arriving in the early hours and sleeping in the cabin of the truck until daylight. Here, Fraser noted, the land could support reliably only one sheep to every 20 acres: ‘Many people ran one sheep to 10 acres, but Mr White said their land was going backwards and that they ran into much trouble during droughts’.


In the evenings, White told them stories about the Aboriginals of the area. ‘One in particular’, Fraser wrote, ‘stuck in my memory’. There had been an Aboriginal called Nanya. In 1860 he had gone with his two ‘gins’ into the waterless country to the west, hoping to avoid capture and imprisonment in a reservation. The tribe increased to twenty members. They lived on water from the roots of shrubs and trees, and whatever game they could kill. Then, in 1896, a half-caste discovered their tracks and gave them up. They were rounded up and sent to a reserve. ‘But Nanya’s spirit, which had been so strong and courageous when he was wandering in his arid hunting ground, broke in captivity and very soon he died.’


The next day, the boys toured the mines of Broken Hill, Fraser noting the value of the equipment and the impact of the handsome bonuses paid to miners on the prices charged in town. ‘New buildings cost about two and a half times Melbourne prices.’ They were delayed for three days because the roads to Bourke were impassable due to the rain. Then they set off again, camped near Wilcannia, got bogged and were pulled out by a passing truck. Fraser took a photo of a flock of emus. On again to Cobar and Nyngan, where Fraser noted that kangaroos and emus were rare. ‘This is a typical example where a young country has, through neglect and indifference, allowed her native fauna to be ruthlessly hunted and killed. Present game laws are still inadequate and do not prevent wasteful killing.’


They spent two days helping to crutch sheep, then went on to Dubbo, where Fraser noted the rainfall statistics and the quality of the aerodrome. They helped on another station, sowing barley and treating ewes for blowfly, and went to a dance in the evening. On once more, getting bogged again, stopping for truck repairs in Coolah, then passing in the pitch of night along the dangerous track through the Abercrombie Ranges. ‘On one side the mountains reared up to their majestic heights, while on the other the road seemed to fall away into an impenetrable abyss.’


Then there was more crutching of fly-blown sheep on a property near Bathurst, before heading on to the ‘much-publicised but confusing and scattered Canberra’. Fraser was not impressed. He liked the War Memorial, but as for the rest: ‘This city was planned to be a great metropolis and consequently everything was planned on a grand scale. Unfortunately there is little to encourage anyone to go there unless one is a civil servant or a politician. Therefore the great Canberra is not, and will not be’. He visited Parliament House: ‘None of it was very impressive. In fact the House of Representatives looked rather shabby’. Just six years later, Fraser would enter that shabby chamber once again as its youngest member. Twenty years after that he would dominate it as Prime Minister.


But for now he turned for home, down the Hume Highway to Melbourne, then back to Nareen. It was time to pack for Oxford. He wrote on the last page in his journal:


 


All my life I will have memories of calm nights beneath the sky, of waking before dawn to see the sun rise in the east and of driving over the lonely bush roads with dust eddying all round. The deformed Mallee scrub and the ghost farms, the great plains and the endless sand hills, the majestic mountains, the beautiful valleys and pleasant hills. All these are part of Australia and part of my memories. Among them I will find my home.




Part 1


Being Heard





1


Roots


For most of Fraser’s political career, his opponents have found it easy to think that they know him because of his background. He has been aware of having to fight the stereotype. ‘Western District. Melbourne Grammar. Oxford University. They think they know who you are’, he says, but childhoods and families are never so simple, and Malcolm Fraser’s certainly were not. Was it a happy childhood? ‘Mostly’, he says. ‘Not always.’


Fraser was born on 21 May 1930, during the Great Depression. He was raised at Balpool-Nyang, a remote property on the Edward River in the New South Wales Riverina. On these low-lying alluvial plains looped by ancient water courses, Fraser had a childhood extraordinary for its beauty, silence and isolation. Deniliquin was two hours’ drive away along black soil roads. If there was rain, it was impossible to get through. The trip involved crossing the river on a punt. Melbourne was eleven hours’ drive. When the river flooded the family were cut off. The property was a mixture of a red-gum forest, flood plains and big grazing paddocks. Old photo albums show the forest in flood, and the family picnicking under a hard sun, perched on a levy bank built to stop the homestead from flooding. Una Fraser, Malcolm’s mother, wore a twin-set for the camera. The children—Malcolm and his elder sister, Lorri—were in overalls or dungarees, all gap teeth and dust.


Other photos show supplies being brought up the Edward River and eagles flapping helplessly after being caught in traps. ‘They took the lambs, you see’, says Fraser. There were sawmillers at work in the forest, sweaty and muscled, their saws powered by steam engines. Amid all this is Fraser as a long-limbed little boy, on horseback or messing around in his homemade wooden dinghy on the river with his pet galah on his shoulder. From the age of seven or eight, Fraser would disappear all day into the forest on horseback. ‘When I was ten or eleven, my parents told me I should never ride in the forest, but I’d been riding into it for at least two years, just by myself and a long way in. I always felt I knew exactly where home was, and if I hadn’t, my horse would have. I could have just dropped the reins and the horse would have found its way home, but I never had to do that, because I knew where I was going.’ He was in his element, confident and free. He had a rifle that he would carry along the river bank, and he learned to make the sounds of crows, so they would come close enough to be shot. Crows were the enemy. They gouged out the eyes of the lambs. Fraser remembers his pride on the day he shot five of them.


Fraser loved this property and his life there, but Balpool-Nyang became one of the first big losses in his life. Speaking about the loss still moves him to tears. His parents decided to sell when he was thirteen years old and away at school. He hadn’t even known that the property was on the market. He was devastated. ‘Kids weren’t consulted in those days. I was told after the event. They knew I would have said “no”. You accepted things as a child. They weren’t all good things; you just accepted them. You had no control over your life, and at school, masters and mistresses told you what to do. At home your parents told you what to do.’ His parents, worn down by the Depression years and successions of droughts and floods, had decided to move to the Western District of Victoria, an area with reliable rainfall. They bought Nareen, the property Fraser owned throughout his prime ministership and with which he is most often identified, although he no longer lives there. Sometime shortly after the sale of Balpool-Nyang, Fraser wrote the following words in a photo album:


 


These are pictures of our Nyang. Droughts made us sellout but forever will the memory of Nyang be strong within me. Nareen will never quite take its place. There are a few pictures of Nyang and a few pictures of Mum and Dad there. They remind me of every aspect of life on the station that I shall never forget.1


His only sibling, big sister Lorraine, or Lorri, was three and a half years older. At the age of six—when Malcolm was not yet three— she was sent away to boarding school. This was because, according to their mother, she was ‘uncontrollable’ and leading young Malcolm astray. Fraser remembers, ‘She was a rebellious child’.


‘And you weren’t?’


‘I was more accepting. Yes.’


Lorri Fraser, now Lorri Whiting, went on to be a significant abstract artist. She moved to Italy and has lived there ever since. Today she has a strong affection for her little brother, but few fond memories of her childhood. She remembers injustice, and emotional distance. When she was one year old, before Malcolm was born, her parents went to Europe for several months, leaving her with her grandparents. When her mother, Una, was in her last days, she wrote to Lorri apologising for the breach and hurt between them, and attributing the fact that they had never bonded to that early separation.


Years before, when interviewed about her famous son, Una contrasted the temperaments of her two children.2 Malcolm, she said, was an easy child, ‘perfectly normal and pleasant’. She claimed to have an almost telepathic connection with him. Lorri, on the other hand, was always having tantrums.


From Lorri’s perspective, Malcolm was undoubtedly the favourite child—something that lasted well into their adult life. Both mother and father doted on him. Yet despite this and the fact that she was inevitably jealous of him, the two children were quite close. ‘I think Malcolm was always aware that what happened to me was unjust.’ Being the favoured one, she comments, can be as big a burden as being the second runner. She doesn’t rule out the possibility that this early experience is part of what formed Malcolm and his abiding preoccupation with justice.


Once Lorri had gone to boarding school, there were no other children around. Malcolm had a succession of governesses, but none of them stayed long. Meanwhile, his parents did not believe in engaging children in conversation. Children were to be seen and not heard. And, yet the young boy was curious. Una remembered that as a child Malcolm was always wanting to be included. ‘He always wanted to know what you were talking about. I would be talking to Neville and suddenly he would say, “What are you saying?”’ Fraser, on the other hand, remembers the frustration of never being allowed to speak, and being told that there were some things children should not be thinking about at all. ‘There were few conversations. I suppose I remember the ones informing me of what was going to happen to me. There were very few of what you would call real conversations.’ Meanwhile, he half-overheard conversations about the Depression, and later the war. He also remembers conversations about Catholics, how they were not to be trusted. ‘I would ask, “What’s the problem? What’s the matter with Catholics?”


‘“Well, they are different. They are not Australians; they owe their loyalty to the Pope.”


‘You would never get people explaining what they thought and why they thought it. Such things were not discussed with children, but if my sister had wanted to marry a Catholic, my father would have just cut the traces. He really would have. He felt very strongly. On other things he was very reasonable, but this was a common prejudice at the time.’


Fraser attributes his father’s attitude to Prime Minister Billy Hughes and the conscription referendum during World War I. Hughes made the referendum an attack on Catholics, and Irish Catholics in particular, accusing them of being disloyal. ‘My father would have believed everything Billy Hughes said’, says Fraser. ‘So did most of the men in the trenches in World War I.’ Hughes’s actions in encouraging sectarianism, says Fraser today, were the worst of any Prime Minister in Australian history. They could have led to armed conflict, he believes, had there not been a settlement of the Irish question in 1922. The scars lasted for fifty years.


Fraser has several times made the comparison between his father’s generation’s anti-Catholicism and the things that are said in present-day Australia about Muslims. Today, anti-Catholic prejudices look silly; it is hard to understand the hatred and suspicion that inspired them. So too, he says, will future Australians look back on the prejudice against Muslims as silly and ignorant. Reflecting on the reasons for his father’s prejudice was to guide him during his own prime ministership. Racism is always present in society, ready to be stirred up, but political leadership can make a difference.


The Depression made its impact on Fraser’s childhood. Although there is no doubt that his family was privileged, they were land-rich and comparatively cash-poor. Privacy was at a premium in the house, because the manager and his family had moved in, to save money. The half-overheard conversations from which the young Malcolm was excluded were often about money. There was a pervasive sense of trouble and worry. Cars had to be downgraded. The historic Toorak homestead of Norla, from which his grandfather, Sir Simon Fraser, had stirred up Victorian politics, had to be sold. One of Fraser’s earliest memories is of it being demolished.


Back at Balpool-Nyang, it was either drought or flood. For years in a row lambs were killed at birth to save the ewes’ strength. Willow trees around the homestead were cut down to provide feed for horses. Meanwhile the house, built by Malcolm’s father after his marriage, moved as the alluvial soil of the plains shifted under the concrete blocks, and created enormous cracks in most rooms. When dust storms came it was hard to see from one side of the house to the other. Swaggies walked the roads looking for work and marking the gates of properties with secret signs which indicated to their fellows whether or not they could expect a friendly reception. Fraser does not know what the sign read on the gate at Balpool-Nyang. He remembers the 1938 drought in which his father, desperate to sell sheep, rang a battery-hen farm that was boiling up carcasses for feed. ‘They had so many offers, they weren’t taking any more. They said, “Well, we don’t really need them … but if you pay the freight we’ll accept delivery”.’ Fraser remembers his father laying off workers, and them pleading to be allowed to stay on, willing to work only for food. Fraser’s father wouldn’t consent. The unions, he said, would not allow it. They would make it the basis of a future claim.


Fraser’s parents were always glad to get away from the hardship. Money worries were constant, but the family was hardly poor. For six weeks every summer they would go to Portsea on holiday, and trips to Melbourne were frequent. Asked what kind of people his parents were, Fraser says, ‘They were very much part of the scene. Part of all the clubs you are meant to be part of’. They were, in fact, enmeshed in the Victorian establishment.
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Balpool-Nyang had come into the family as part of the legacy of Fraser’s paternal grandfather, Sir Simon Fraser.3 The historical record favours winners, and Sir Simon was certainly one of those. Today, those who know about this side of Malcolm Fraser’s background tend to see him through the prism of Sir Simon and his position at the centre of the squattocracy. Sir Simon was a wealthy and powerful self-made man, and one of the people who helped to form the nation of Australia. Although he died before Malcolm was born, his legacy, both of wealth and social position, determined much of his grandson’s childhood.


Simon Fraser was a Canadian Scot, born in 1832 in the little fishing village of Pictou, Nova Scotia, the son of a farmer and flour mill owner who had migrated from Inverness. He arrived in Australia in 1853, at the age of twenty-one, one of thousands in search of their fortune on the goldfields. Soon after he arrived in Bendigo, he realised that most miners were doomed to leave the goldfields broke and defeated. He set up as a grocer, selling potatoes. After a few years, recognising that the gold could not last for ever, he moved to a shop in Elizabeth Street, Melbourne, from where he sold produce and horses. He soon moved into contracting for roads, bridges and railways; this was how he acquired his wealth. A few years later, he was in Queensland taking advantage of the wide open country to become a squatter. He formed the Squatting Investment Company with others, and bought properties all over the west of the state and down into New South Wales, including Balpool-Nyang. One of these was to play a particularly important part in Australian history. Aware that artesian water had been discovered in France and having seen springs on Australian properties, in 1886 Fraser began to bore on the station of Thurulgoona, about 30 miles from Cunnamulla, and found water. It was the beginning of artesian bores in Australia and the transformation of the inland.4 Today, this is one of the few aspects of his family history to which Malcolm Fraser pays conscious tribute. He has given the name ‘Thurulgoona’ to his present home, on Victoria’s Mornington Peninsula. Sir Simon’s portrait hangs in the study.


Simon Fraser entered politics in 1874 as member for the Echuca-based seat of Rodney in the Victorian Legislative Assembly. He was married twice. His first wife was Margaret Bolger, who bore him two daughters before dying in 1880. Sir Simon’s obituary in The Bulletin suggested that Bolger was a Catholic, and that this marriage was the root of his vehement anti-Catholicism.5 Whatever the reason, sectarianism was one of his less noble legacies: he was intensely involved in the sectarian divides of the day. He was a leading member of the Protestant fraternal organisation the Orange Movement, and he often pushed the Protestant cause in parliament. He was also a prominent Mason—Grand Master of the Grand Lodge of Port Phillip. His second marriage, in 1885, was to Anna Bertha Collins, daughter of another Queensland pioneer and squatter, John Collins. Anna bore Simon three sons. Malcolm Fraser’s father, John Neville (always known as Neville), was the youngest, born in 1890.


The historical record doesn’t favour women, but Anna Fraser seems to have been a remarkable woman who used her position as wife to one of the country’s leading men to push her own list of charities and causes. As well as being one of the best known charity workers of her time, she was a member of the Free Kindergarten Union of Victoria, a key progressive organisation dedicated to training teachers with a particular emphasis on providing high-quality early-childhood education to disadvantaged families. The wife of Prime Minister Alfred Deakin was the president. Anna was also on the council of the state branch of the Victoria League, which was established to encourage friendship between people of the Commonwealth and to promote migration from Commonwealth countries to Australia. She belonged as well to the Alexandra Club, a theoretically non-political organisation that provided rooms and facilities for ladies in the city; in fact, it was a centre of female power, including in its membership the wives of many of the country’s most powerful men.6


After their wedding, Simon and Anna moved into Norla in the heart of Toorak. The gardens were used for fetes and fundraising for Anna’s preoccupations. Fraser re-entered politics; he had a couple of unsuccessful contests before becoming a member of the Legislative Council for the South Yarra province. In September 1889, the weekly magazine Table Talk described him as ‘enormously rich’ and as controlling the policy of the Evening Standard newspaper, of which he was a large shareholder and director.7 He was also a friend of David Syme, the proprietor of The Age newspaper. The two men shared a belief in free trade, but fell out when Syme switched sides to become a protectionist. Syme banned Fraser from the editorial columns of the paper; Fraser retorted by publishing his speeches as paid advertisements.


Fraser was a federalist. He was active in the earliest meetings held to discuss the creation of Australia, and helped to organise the Australian Federal Convention of 1897, which led to the drafting of the constitution and the creation of the Australian nation. Before that, he had been a representative at a conference of the various governments of the British Empire held in Ottawa in 1894. With the arrival of Federation he ran for the Senate, and topped the state poll. In 1906 he stood for re-election as an anti-socialist. He was knighted in 1918, shortly before his death of bronchitis at the age of eighty-seven. His obituary in The Age described him as ‘a lovable personality’ who was ‘held in high esteem by many who are bitterly opposed to his political views. He was intensely patriotic in sentiment’. The Bulletin was less reverent to members of the squattocracy; it described Fraser as ‘a hard shell politician’ but nevertheless commented that he had served his adopted country ‘better than most old identities who die rich’ and that he was ‘a good Australian in most respects’.8


Sir Simon Fraser left his children not only a political legacy, but extensive landholdings and the very best connections. By the time of his death he had worked with almost all of the families who were to shape Victorian politics. He knew the Baillieus and was close friends with Hubert Ralph Hamer, the father of the future Victorian Premier Dick Hamer. The next generation of these families remained entwined with the Frasers. The Squatting Investment Company that Sir Simon had co-founded had among its directors Richard Casey, whose son, also Richard but more commonly known as Dick, was a close friend of the Frasers and one of the most influential Liberal politicians of the Menzies era. From 1965, he was Governor-General. The Casey family was central to the Frasers. Malcolm’s sister, Lorri, married Bertram (Bertie) Whiting, who had been aide-de-camp to Dick Casey during the latter’s time as Governor of Bengal during World War II. It was Dick Casey’s nephew, Gavin, who later accompanied Malcolm on his trip around New South Wales before he left Australia for Oxford.


This was the heritage to which Malcolm’s parents, Neville and Una, owed their social position. Families, though, have two sides, and there was another aspect to Malcolm’s family history that was barely spoken of.


Malcolm knew that there was never any money on his mother’s side of the family. He met his maternal grandfather, Louis Arnold Woolf, just once. There is a photo of the old man standing stiffly alongside Lorri, a chubby Malcolm and some other children, in front of a seesaw. Another shows him sitting awkwardly on the ground with his grandchildren.9 Woolf died in 1938, when Malcolm was seven years old. Lorri remembers knowing that there was something unusual—and therefore desperately interesting—about him. ‘I knew that Louis Arnold Woolf was not a name like John or Simon or Fraser or Casey or all the other names of our respectable bunch.’ But she could never find out much about him.


Woolf was at least part Jewish. This fact was kept from Malcolm until he was an adult. He remembers at Melbourne Grammar School needing to have it explained to him what a Jew was, and why the Jewish students didn’t go to chapel. ‘I was extraordinarily ignorant. I really was.’ An obituary of Una Fraser written by her friend, the art critic Philip Jones, said, ‘Her wide culture and questioning far ranging mind stem no doubt from her partly Jewish background. It seems a pity she obscured rather than celebrated this rich heritage’.10


Woolf was also a politician, though not a successful one. He seems to have been an intense idealist, as well as, according to Una’s recollections, a dilettante interested in literature and a Shakespearian scholar. ‘I well remember him shutting himself in our “den” and declaiming with much gusto speeches from Othello and Hamlet.’ Although Una was alive throughout Fraser’s career, she never discussed her father’s history with him—though she did mention his political work in a letter she wrote for her grandchildren before her death. Fraser did not know the details of Woolf’s career until the facts were discovered as part of the research for this book.


Louis Woolf had been born in New Zealand, the son of a Jewish father who had emigrated from South Africa, and Esther Reuben.11 Una believed that her grandmother was not Jewish, but the name suggests that the Jewish heritage may have been on both sides of the family.12 Woolf never knew his father—he died of consumption two months before he was born. Later, his mother took him to Australia and remarried. Woolf did not get on with his stepfather, and he left home at an early age. He became an accountant. In 1895 he married Amy May Booth, one of thirteen children and a third-generation Australian. Her grandparents and parents had arrived in Sydney in 1849 and had settled in Ulladulla, on the south coast, where they opened a store and travellers’ inn. Booth’s father, John, went into property development, establishing the private town of Milton— named because of his admiration for Milton’s Paradise Lost. He went on to become an investor and speculator, and in time a produce merchant in Sussex Street, Sydney. There, he met the Hordern family, who ran the famous Emporium department store, known as ‘the Empo’, which employed more than four thousand people. Booth’s elder sister, Jane Maria, married into the Hordern family. Her son became Sir Samuel Hordern—one of the richest and most prominent Australians of his time.13 There was little difference in age between Amy and her nieces and nephews, and she spent much of her childhood in the Hordern household, part of the family.


Amy Booth’s marriage to Woolf carried her away from the centre of the colonial establishment and towards the edge of things. Woolf had lost most of his money in the 1890s crash; he had to start again. Amy and Louis’s first daughter, Enid, was born in Sydney in 1896, but by the next year the family had moved to the small new colony of Swan River and the township of Perth. They knew nobody. Amy was desperately lonely, but Woolf apparently did well, setting up as an accountant in the centre of town. The 1890s was a formative decade for Western Australia. Thanks to gold discoveries at Kalgoorlie and Coolgardie, the population of Perth more than tripled in the decade, but by 1901 it was still home to only 27 000 people. In this small pond, Woolf was prominent, and his ambitions were not confined to accountancy. Like Simon Fraser, he became caught up in discussions about the creation of a new nation. He was both a federalist and a free trader. In the elections for the first Senate, in 1901, he ran as a candidate endorsed by the Australian Free-Trade and Liberal Association, one of the many organisations that were precursors to Menzies’s Liberal Party.


Throughout February and March 1901 the Perth Morning Herald reported on Woolf’s public meetings and addresses.14 They were at first well attended and well received. Woolf seems to have been a serious and passionate speaker; his lectures were wide-ranging and packed with detail. He was in favour of a white Australia, and argued that free trade was the ‘only democratic policy’. To begin with, he was greeted with cheers, but the positive reception didn’t last. A Herald editorial made a criticism of him that is reminiscent of some that were later made of his grandson: ‘Mr Woolf is, perhaps, one of the best authorities on financial questions in the state, and a sound and reliable man in every way, but his platform style is not effective. If he had personal magnetism together with knowledge, his chances of election would be all the greater’.15


The editorial was prescient. On the day of the election, Woolf received just 409 votes, coming fifth-last out of sixteen candidates. Surviving records give an indication of some of the prejudices he had to deal with and of his own suppression of his racial background. A collection of sketches of well-known Western Australians published in 1905 contains this implicitly racist contribution about Woolf:


 


One of the leading accountants in town. He neither affirms nor denies he is a Jew. A familiar figure in town. Tall and round-shouldered, he strides along the street with head well ahead of him, hands clenching and opening, muttering as he goes. He is making a political speech to himself. In imagination he is on a public platform, being cheered to the echo by enthusiastic crowds. The reality was different. He stumped the country when seeking election to the first federal parliament. Wherever he went he was received with eloquent silence. No one threw vegetables, probably because they felt sorry for such a hopelessly impossible candidate. He does not know how he appears to other people, so this may do him a lot of good.16


In 1908, Woolf left for London, ‘owing to medical advice that he should seek a change of scene and climate’. A dinner was held to farewell him, and it seems he had lost none of his fire. He gave a speech on liberalism which, in its passion and cadence, was apparently uncannily similar to some that were later given by his grandson Malcolm Fraser. The Perth Morning Herald paraphrased his words:


 


The National Liberal League claimed that they were not only national but also liberal. What they had done in the past should be sufficient to prove that they desired the people to rule and not any faction. They asked all shades of political thought and all grades of social influence to join their ranks.17


Woolf returned to Perth after about a year and continued to be listed as an accountant until the year before his death, in 1938, of tuberculosis in a private hospital in the Blue Mountains. The balance of his estate was just under £700—a small amount even for the times.18 Amy Woolf was in touch with Malcolm Fraser’s family until her death, in a private hospital in Melbourne, in 1960. Fraser remembers her as an old woman, living in Cleveland Mansions in East Melbourne. She came to lunch with the family sometimes. His mother visited her, but he did not know her well.
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Malcolm Fraser’s parents, Neville Fraser and Una Woolf, met at a party on the battleship Repulse when Una was visiting her Hordern cousins in Sydney in 1924. The couple were married three years later at St Mark’s Church of England, Darling Point. The Horderns seem to have clubbed together to make the day a success. Lady Hordern lent Una a veil; Hordern cousins were the bridesmaids; and the reception was held at the Hordern family home.


Neville Fraser was twelve years older than Una. Educated at Melbourne Grammar, Trinity College at Melbourne University and then studying law at Magdalen College, Oxford, he had been in the thick of World War I, fighting at the Somme, Messines Ridge and Ypres. His war diaries survive as a record of the tedium and horror. Neville recorded the smell of rotting flesh alongside his success (and otherwise) at card games.19 After the war, he seems never to have seriously considered practising law. He was, according to Malcolm Fraser, ‘not a highly intellectual man’. He served on the local shire council at Wakool for eight years and was president for two. He was interested in politics, largely because of his father’s example and his friendship with Dick Casey. According to Una, he toyed with the idea of a broader political career but never wanted to put in the hard work of getting pre-selected and campaigning.


In the early years of their marriage Una and Neville travelled through Europe, including the trip during which they left behind the one-year-old Lorri. As the Depression began to bite, Neville was forced to make managing Balpool his first priority. Una seems never to have warmed to life in the remote bush. ‘Locusts and mice. Dogs. Drought. Floods. We had the lot.’


If Neville Fraser had trouble recovering from the horrors of World War I, he never confided this to his son. Certainly, though, he understood others who were not coping so well. Malcolm remembers some shearers arriving by boat after being lost in the flooded red-gum forest for days. They were half-starved. The first thing Neville did was fetch a bottle of brandy for the shearers’ cook. ‘The cook had been in the war and he was one of those people who couldn’t really handle it. He was probably quite a good shearers’ cook but he needed the grog to get by, and being stuck three days on the boat would have been really tough for him. My father knew that.’ Fraser remembers another occasion on which his father refused to buy him a toy steam engine, because it was made in Germany.


Neville Fraser was a natural extrovert. Una once described him as ‘peppery, like old Sir Simon’, with very fixed ideas for which he would argue aggressively. ‘Kind and generous to a degree with a lively mind and a great zest for life … That he was a complex and unpredictable character was evident as I was not always very clever in understanding what his reaction or point of view would be.’ In the early years, father and son seem to have been devoted to each other. Family movies show Neville ruffling Malcolm’s hair. Una Fraser said that Malcolm was inseparable from his father, that as a very young child he was always ‘perfectly happy’ as long as he could be with him. Yet it seems to have been a relationship almost devoid of conversation. Fraser remembers it as being mainly about being taught how to do practical things, and play sport. ‘Oh, being taught to shoot, taught to ride. He was a very good bowler; he wouldn’t teach me to bowl because he hadn’t enjoyed bowling: he wished he had been a great batsman! So he tried to make me into a great batsman.’ He failed. Fraser enjoyed playing cricket for fun and later liked tennis as well, but never excelled at sport. Years later, when he was first contesting an election, he was forced to correct newspaper reports suggesting that he had great prowess.


 


Sir,


In the course of the recent federal election campaign statements have been made in the Melbourne press with regard to my football activities past and future. Three statements have been quoted as having been made by me. All are untrue. I did not say I played Australian Rules football for Melbourne Grammar or rugger for Oxford University. No local team in the Western District has ever approached me to play football. The only position that I would be qualified to fill on a football field would be that of goal post.20


As Fraser grew older, his relationship with his father became strained. Una said that Neville had trouble accepting that his son had grown up and had his own ideas. This continued into Fraser’s early days in politics, when he was fighting the state government over issues like wool sales at Portland, and making enemies, including some among the family connections. Dick Hamer asked Neville to try to make Fraser back off. Neville, Una said, was ‘worried sick’. The son did not bow to the father, although at this time they were all living at close quarters on Nareen.


Neville and Una’s marriage was by all accounts a happy one, although they seem to have been very different people. Una told her friends that if she hadn’t married she would have been a concert pianist or an actress. Even at Balpool she played the piano. She had acted in Repertory Theatre in Perth and had been educated with an emphasis on music and French. She is remembered as a reserved, highly intelligent and striking woman. Lorri recalls the family atmosphere as quite cool. ‘It always seemed to me that we were very distant with each other’, she says. Una’s granddaughter Phoebe Fraser remembers Una as loving but ‘not the kind of grandma who gets down on the floor and plays with you’.


According to her friend Philip Jones, Una flowered intellectually and culturally after she was widowed, in 1962. Based in her large South Yarra apartment she pursued her interests in the arts, entertained often and collected the work of some of the main figurative artists of the day as well as building one of the finest private collections of eighteenth-century English and Irish glass in Australia.21 During this period, Una would say to those who inquired that her daughter’s rebelliousness was because of her ‘artistic temperament’, and that perhaps she hadn’t understood this when she was younger. Lorri, in turn, remembers little support from her parents for her artistic career, and sometimes what she took to be hostility from her father. Today, Lorri’s work hangs prominently in Malcolm Fraser’s Melbourne office and in his home.


There is plenty in Malcolm Fraser’s family history to suggest that public life and politics might be his destiny, but little to explain his abiding concerns with human rights, equality and anti-racism. His parents were more than caught up in the common prejudices of their time. So where does Fraser’s anti-racism come from? He dismisses the rumours, spread by political colleagues, about South African neighbours whom he didn’t like. ‘I don’t know. Perhaps it is innate’, he says, and tells a story about Simon Fraser that he first heard from Labor politician Clyde Cameron, who discovered it when researching union history. In 1886, David Temple, the first secretary of the Australasian Shearers’ Union, visited Balpool-Nyang to try to sign up members. Simon introduced him to the men, and told them that he belonged to associations and clubs to protect his interests, and if he had only his labour to sell then he would belong to a trade union. As a result, the Balpool-Nyang sheds were the first in the country to be unionised. Fraser’s comment: ‘That shows a concern for the idea of a fair go, at least’. His maternal grandfather, Louis Woolf, also seems to have been, in his way, a radical, and passionate about social justice. So too, within the limited roles available to women at the time, was his grandmother Anna Fraser.


[image: Image]


Fraser’s early years were haunted by the abiding fear of every parent at the time: polio. For a short while he went to a day school in Toorak, but the city air and pining for Balpool-Nyang meant he was regularly ill, developing the weak chest that has plagued him throughout his adult life. When he was eight he was found to be running a temperature at school, and was packed off home amid some drama. It wasn’t polio, but something almost as bad: he was perilously ill with pneumonia. There were no antibiotics, and he nearly died. He remembers lying in bed and hearing a whispered conversation with a doctor in which his parents were discussing whether or not he would survive. This is one of his most powerful memories of being shut out of conversation. ‘Lying there, you don’t really know what is happening and they are having a consultation with your GP in the corner of the room, and then you realise that you are very ill indeed.’


The illness was a landmark. It brought to an end his life of freedom at the centre of the family. Once he had recovered it was thought important to send him away for his health. His parents chose Tudor House in the New South Wales highlands, known for its clean air. As usual, Fraser was not consulted about the move or included in discussions about it. He was simply told. Almost twenty years earlier, another Anglican boy with a weak chest—Patrick White, who went on to be Australia’s best known author—had been sent there for similar reasons. White, a coddled child, experienced Tudor House as a place of freedom.22 Not much had changed when Fraser went there, but for him the experience was one of restriction. Today, the ethos at Tudor House is the same as it was in Fraser’s and White’s days. The school advertises itself as being one where:


 


The boys are encouraged to do the things once taken for granted—to climb trees, to ride bikes, to fall over and to get up, to make mistakes, to get dirty, to camp and to grow gardens. 23


Fraser began at Tudor House in 1940 and was there until December 1943, when he was thirteen years old. It was a roughand-tumble life. The freedom was extraordinary by the standards of most schools. Fraser was allowed to take his rifle, though it was kept under lock and key. After lessons he was able to go wandering across the 170 acres of school grounds by foot and on bike. But Fraser nevertheless felt restricted: at home he had been so free; now he was regimented and told what to do. In retrospect, he thinks it was a good school, but at the time he was sometimes content, and sometimes miserable. He felt ‘dumped’ by his family. With the coming of World War II his father had enlisted again. His mother was mostly in Melbourne, which meant that when the other boys were visited at weekends Fraser was most often on his own. Una later described this situation as something that ‘has never ceased to sadden me’.24 Fraser’s letters home sounded cheery enough, but they were punctuated frequently by ‘I am longing to see you’.25 His parents did visit when they could, but it was difficult due to wartime restrictions on travel, and he didn’t see anything like as much of them as he would have liked. ‘I accepted that you had to go to school and my parents continued to tell me that it’s the best years of your life. I said, “Well, I just don’t believe that”. They said everyone had to go to school. I said I’d sooner stay at Balpool.’


For the first time he was with plenty of boys his own age, but it was, he says, ‘too late. The die was cast. I had been solitary for too long so I was still in part self-contained or reserved or whatever. I don’t think anything really was going to alter that’. He had some friends, but did not make them easily. School work, though, was never a problem. He was seldom first in the class, but nearly always in the top three or four.


War talk, and the impression of imminent threat, hung about everything. During school holidays Fraser would overhear conversations. ‘I can remember going into the room and my mother had women in for lunch or bridge, or something or other, and they were saying, “When they come, will people be safer in the countryside or in the cities?” I said, “What do you mean?” I didn’t read newspapers. I knew the war was on but the last thing you were told was that Australia might be occupied. But adults of that time really thought it was going to be. They couldn’t see what would stop the Japanese.’ As usual, the young Fraser asked for more information but was told that it was not something for children to worry about.


Back at school, though, the boys were set to digging trenches in the grounds. Even then Fraser thought this stupid. ‘If the Japanese were going to arrive, what in the hell good would those trenches be?’ In 1942, when Japanese aircraft bombed the port of Darwin, the children were taught what to do in an air raid. Fraser thought it was a waste of time, but a few months later Japanese midget submarines entered Sydney Harbour and sank a ferry boat, killing nineteen people, and preparations at Tudor House began to seem slightly less ridiculous. One of Fraser’s favourite teachers left overnight because he was a conscientious objector and about to be named as such: the school was worried for its reputation. Other younger masters disappeared to join the fighting and were replaced by older ones, sometimes brought out of retirement.


Fraser’s school reports suggest that his masters recognised his leadership potential, but also his tendency to walk alone. In 1943, his final year, the headmaster said, ‘There are still signs of that aloofness and peremptory manner which formerly prevented him from having a really positive influence in house, but there has been a decided improvement in this respect’. Other masters referred to ‘an apparent aloofness, due probably to shyness’.26 Una, writing in 1980, remembered that her son’s standards had always been high.


 


Anything that fell short of them in dealing with his friends found him inclined to intolerance, something he has had to come to terms with through time and experience and [he is] now less likely to judge harshly, although a friend who let him down he might find hard to forgive.27


In 1942, Fraser was asked in class to write a poem in the fashion of Rupert Brooke’s ‘The Great Lover’. The result was published in the school newsletter.


 


These I Have Loved


 


The touch of tools once more as I ply chisel and hammer,


The smell of the eucalyptus tree as I worked under its shadow,


Sweet music of oars as they dip into the water and out again,


Ah! The steady patter of rain on the windows once more,


To feel the hard crust of bread and taste many tasted foods,


The firm kick of a gun as I go shooting along the river.


To rock to the sway of a horse as I canter over the plains,


To tread the firm ground of the hills as the sun lifts his fiery mane up into the sky,


To go for an early-morning swim in the fresh blue sea,


To watch the eagles as they circle high above the treetops,


Huge cross cut saws as they eat their way through the timber,


The clatter of machinery as it weaves some new invention of man’s progress,


The glory of the silver-tipped clouds in their mad race through the sky,


The chatter of birds as they fly through the trees,


Last of all, wind rustling through the treetops, and swaying the branches in its arms.28


In his letters home, Fraser asked constantly about Balpool-Nyang and the impact of the drought, as well as being keen to keep up the supply of sweets and chocolates.


 


Would you try to get an Easter egg like ones you once got about a year ago, they are chocolate on the outside, inside that there is some white muck for white of egg inside that is some yellow muck for the yellow part of the egg. Will you send one or two of those described above and one or two different ones. I hope you have not got scarlet fever yet.29


In his last year at the school—1943—it rained. Ironically, it was the death knell for Balpool-Nyang, because for the first time in many years the property looked green enough to fetch a good price at sale. Fraser was told by letter that the sale had gone through; it was the first he had heard about it. Today, after decades of bruising public life, he still describes the day he received the letter as the worst of his life. He is clearly upset when he talks about it, and his wife, Tamie, says that he is almost always moved to tears when the subject comes up.


Yet it seems that Fraser had already, at the age of thirteen, acquired a formidable reserve, even with his parents. The letter he wrote to them gave away nothing of his pain.


 


I was awfully sorry to hear that Nyang was to be sold. But I know that it is for the best and seeing that you have lost so much in it. Don’t worry about the hols, something will turn up. If it is to be sold I would like to see it again before it is handed over.30


He didn’t see the property again. Balpool was sold, walk-in walk-out. The ponies, the equipment, the house and furniture—all of it went. There was a period of some months before Fraser’s parents bought Nareen. When they did, Fraser was hugely relieved. They would still be in the country, not shackled to Melbourne. He could have a pony again. But, ‘Second time around is never quite the same, no matter how long you have been there’. Even white Australians, Fraser remarks, can have powerful roots in country. His are in the Riverina. For a long while, the Western District was merely where he lived.


Fraser may have been an accepting child—less rebellious than his sister—but by the time he was due to start secondary school he was digging in his heels about some things. He was determined not to be a boarder, because it would have meant even more regimentation. In truth, although his mother would have preferred him to board, there wasn’t any great pressure for him to do so because his parents owned a flat in Alcaston House, at the top end of Collins Street. It was tiny, but they managed to rent an extra room elsewhere in the building to use as Fraser’s bedroom. Melbourne Grammar was a natural choice: Neville had been there. But Fraser said he would have chosen it in any case over the only other school considered appropriate—Geelong Grammar. He had heard that Melbourne Grammar had a broader social mix, and that was what he wanted.


Fraser’s conflicts with his father began at this time, at first over sport. He stopped playing cricket, despite Neville’s urgings. ‘I know I disappointed him in that, but I just didn’t want to, or I wanted to do other things. Even then, I just wanted to do my own thing. Tennis was a different matter; I liked playing tennis. If Father had taught me to be a bowler, then perhaps. He was a very, very good bowler indeed ... but anyway, he didn’t. It was a difficult psychology. If you’re a batsman, you make one mistake and you’re done: you can’t make it up. In tennis, if you make one mistake, you can make it up in the next couple of shots. If you are a bowler, getting bashed around the ground, you can get him out next ball. But a batsman—I didn’t like the psychology of that.’


He was content at Melbourne Grammar, but never academically stretched. ‘The school was quite good at looking after the duller kids and trying to get them a decent job. But it was never challenging.’ He was in the debating society but, thanks to his nerves, rarely made a speech of more than a minute or two. In any case, the debate reached no great heights. ‘No, no way. I mean, they tried to debate public issues, but I think there was so little understanding that it was almost farcical.’


There was another, almost submerged, theme to this period in Fraser’s life. Sometimes, when he was home at Nareen, he was aware that his father was doing something mysterious. If they were out driving they sometimes would take a circuitous route. They would be checking up on something, and there were half-overheard conversations about who was reliable, who could be trusted and who was loyal. Fraser became aware that his father was involved in a clandestine anti-communist organisation. He barely remembers how he knew this; it was never spoken about openly. He does know that Neville would make reports to someone called Herring, and that other family friends were involved as well, ‘All very honourable people’.31


Fraser remembers a background fear among his family and friends that there would be a communist push in Australia. This threat seemed real in a way that is difficult to imagine or recreate in modern-day Australia, but the people who were involved were not fools. This was the era in which the phrase ‘the Cold War’ was entering the popular lexicon. Only a few years before, communist waterside workers had refused to load ships in Sydney because, until Germany attacked Russia, they would not cooperate with the war effort. Now the future of Europe seemed in the balance, as Russia and the Allies carved up their zones of influence. In 1948, the blockade of Berlin began. At the same time, within Australia there were politicians who were communist sympathisers, and many intellectuals and unionists who saw much to admire in Russia. Fraser remembers: ‘A lot of people believed that there would be a communist push, and that they should go out against it. They were frightened of some of the politicians who were travelling to Russia, travelling to Moscow and doing this and doing that’.


There was a number of anti-communist groups operating in Australia at the time, several of which are known to have been active in the Western District of Victoria. The best known was the Association, founded in the late 1940s. Members of the Association believed that the British system was being sabotaged by communism. The Association’s aims and beliefs included loyalty to the Crown and the Commonwealth, the upholding of the Australian constitution and freedom to join any political party that shared these aims. Its main goal was to organise the civilian population to meet any emergencies caused by a communist uprising.32 Neville’s friend Dick Casey had connections with the Association and a lifelong interest in intelligence, security and anti-communism. Among other things, Casey is known to have acted as an intermediary between the Association, Robert Menzies and the anti-communist industrial groups associated with Bob Santamaria, who, in turn, was later to form a long-term friendship with Malcolm Fraser, and to become one of the people he looked to for advice.


As a teenager and young man, Fraser came to understand that the threat from communism was real and urgent, and that his father and his father’s friends did not trust the political process to protect the country. Courageous and honourable people might have to take matters into their own hands. Neville would have coffee with people and ‘see what they thought about this or that. He might send a telegram afterwards to somebody reporting on their attitude to communism, and on who would stand up, who wouldn’t, who was too frightened, who would accept anything and not fight’.


How does Fraser feel about all this now?


‘I feel sad that people felt they had to do it. I knew about three people who were involved. They were all among the most honourable people I’ve ever met.’


Anti-communism was a driving force in the early years of Fraser’s political career, but one of the many ways in which father and son were different was that as an adult, Malcolm Fraser had profound faith in the ability of the political system to combat the threat, at least internally. He believed in proper process. He also believed, though, in activism, and in people of good will taking a lead, confronting threat and if necessary defying convention.
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During the Depression there had been doubts about whether Fraser would go to Oxford. It seemed the family might not be able to afford to send him in his father’s footsteps. But thanks to the postwar recovery and the move to Nareen, the family fortunes had recovered, and he knew he would be off. But what to study? Lorri had long since made her rebellion explicit, and had taken her own path. She remembers that at the age of thirteen she made a conscious decision never to pass another exam at school. She fulfilled her ambition, except for once, and that was an accident. Instead of going to university, while her brother finished secondary school she was studying sculpture at technical college, mixing with left-wing friends and courting with Bertie Whiting, a poet. The two of them tried to earn money by bee-keeping for a while, living in a caravan. She became and remained what she describes as ‘a soft leftie’. When she was at home she would have long and acrimonious arguments with Neville.


Bob Southey, later a Liberal Party Federal President, had just returned from Magdalen College at Oxford. Neville knew Southey and invited him home for a chat with Malcolm. Southey extolled the benefits of the subjects he had been studying: philosophy, politics and economics. He told Fraser that they would help him to understand what was going on in the world. Fraser was sold. The course was recognised as being a fitting preparation for a political career, but Fraser claims to have had no clear idea of what he wanted to do at the time. Politics was in the background thanks to grandfather Simon Fraser and the family friendship with the Caseys, but at that stage all Fraser knew was that he wanted to be something more than only a farmer. Throughout his school years he had studied conscientiously and achieved creditably, and yet not a single master had caught his imagination, opened his mind to possibility or suggested how he might use his talents and his growing sense of a need for men such as himself to act in the world. ‘There was nothing, really, intellectually speaking, before Oxford’, he says. By the time he reached the end of school, he was more than restless.





2


Learning to Think


Among Malcolm Fraser’s personal papers in the University of Melbourne archives is a box of exercise books and foolscap paper covered in his characteristic cursive. These are the records of the work he did at Oxford as he read his way through the set books and acquainted himself with the great thinkers of his own day and of the centuries preceding. His handwriting became untidier as he aged. The notes he made as Prime Minister on the bottom of memorandums are barely legible to those not used to his scrawl. He would mark a paragraph with a heavy vertical line, and add a single word or phrase: ‘Get an answer’ or ‘Yes’ or ‘No’. But back then, before he turned twenty, his handwriting was a matter of square capital letters, abundant verticals and generous loops.1


He was methodical in his learning. He would read with an exercise book open by his side and meticulously summarise the material on the right-hand page. On the facing page he made comments and notes to himself. Thus he worked through Bertrand Russell’s Theory of Knowledge and Problems of Philosophy, and the questions of what it is possible to know and how we can claim to know it. ‘But for introspection we could never imagine the minds of others’, Fraser wrote to himself on one left-hand page. As Russell teased out the question of whether, indeed, it is possible to know anything at all, Fraser wrote in his notes: ‘This process is a nonsense’, and later a word that might be ‘rot’ or ‘rats’, and, later still, ‘I doubt this’. As Russell asserted that not all knowledge is logical, and that some things, such as the knowledge that happiness is better than misery, are a given and independent of logic, Fraser wrote: ‘Doubt this again. Russell bungles and confuses logic and maths that are deductive systems with ethics, which is, I think, purely sociological’. His notes continue with the notion of innate knowledge being given short shrift. ‘Wrong’, he wrote, and ‘All a muddle’. Today he remembers, ‘What we studied was very much involved in the search for knowledge. Is there any absolute truth? Indeed, is there an absolute? What is the source of everything? If you look at all the modern philosophers, there was metaphysical assumption at the very core of everything that they were doing. If you take a metaphysical core, you can construct anything you like, because you can’t prove it or disprove it … And all the muddle you can get in. “I think therefore I am”, said Descartes. But how do you know you are thinking? You may only believe you are thinking. But that doesn’t mean you exist, just that you believe. And so on, and on and on’.


Fraser preferred John Locke, and his An Essay Concerning Human Understanding. Locke said there is no innate knowledge: the mind is ‘white paper, void of all characters’. How then does it come by ‘that vast store which the busy and boundless fancy of man has painted on it with endless variety? Whence has it all the materials of reason and knowledge?’ Locke answered the question with one word: experience. From observation and reason, said Locke, come all our understanding. The individual is central, and the freedom to think and reason is at the core of what it means to be human. Governments are legitimate so long as natural rights are respected. If they become tyrannical, citizens are justified in overthrowing them.


In his slow and careful manner, Fraser read his way through the works of Thomas Hobbes and Jean-Jacques Rousseau. He came to Niccolò Machiavelli’s The Prince. ‘Avoid being despised and hated’, advised the author; ‘have gravity and fortitude’. From Jean-Jacques Rousseau, Fraser noted the idea that ‘Man is born free but everywhere he is in chains’. All of the thinkers that Fraser liked, even Descartes, with his ‘I think therefore I am’, placed the individual, and individual freedom, at the heart of things. This was a message that spoke to Fraser, the self-sufficient, solitary boy. He had learned, as a child, to rely on himself and his own judgement. Ever since, he had wanted freedom. Oxford provided the intellectual framework for his instincts, and made them more than matters of individual preference. They were universal imperatives. Years later, Fraser summed up what he had learned.


 


If the human being is to be central, empiricism, pragmatism, basic common decency would seem to require such a commitment be universal. And thus the assertion of human rights and freedom is fundamental to any person who claims to be liberal. It is liberalism’s supreme contribution to human thought and human progress … Those who look for a perfect system of government are unlikely to find it. Those who look to general rules that can apply in all circumstances will be misled. Good government is essentially pragmatic. Decisions need to be guided by philosophy but based on empirical evidence. Government is not about a deductive system; it is inductive, based on circumstances and facts as they emerge. There are no formulas that can make government easy.2


Fraser also read the leading economic textbooks of the day. In his essays he considered whether there was an optimum size for a firm appropriate to each industry, and whether political parties were a necessary part of the machinery of democracy. On the latter question, Fraser thought not. He wrote: ‘I would go so far as to say that [political parties] are the remnants of past regimes, that they are totally unsuited to democracy and a constant danger to its survival’. He decried the ‘subordination of individuality to the machine’.


The politics, philosophy and economics course had, when first introduced in 1920, been known as Modern Greats. This title captured an idea that was at the time novel: that studying the ancients of Classical Greece and Rome was no longer as relevant for those entering public life as a knowledge of the innovative thinkers of modern times. Fraser was told in his first week that philosophy was important because it would teach him how to reason, politics would acquaint him with the different methods that humans had used to govern themselves and solve their problems, and economics was valuable because, in the modern world, most of politics was concerned with it, and it provided the analytical framework for thinking through social phenomena. ‘We were told, “You might think it’s three separate subjects, but it’s not. It will come together sometime in the second year”. And it did. You saw the relevance of it all, even of symbolic logic. You saw how you could cut the crap, how you could tell if someone had a totally phoney argument.’ Modern Greats was part of the search for new ways of thinking that followed a generation of England’s finest young men being cut to ribbons in World War I. New solutions were needed. The course in which Fraser was enrolled was woven around modernity and idealism— themes that had only swelled in the wake of yet another bloody war.


Later, Fraser described those postwar years as the beginning of a new age of enlightenment. In the years prior to his arrival at Oxford, in 1949, the United Nations, the World Bank and the International Monetary Fund had been established. The year before he arrived, the Universal Declaration of Human Rights had been adopted by the United Nations, and during his time at Oxford countries all over the world were negotiating conventions to give the declaration legal force. All these mechanisms were, as Fraser said later, ‘designed to establish a fairer and a more peaceful world. Colonialism would be outlawed. People would look after their own affairs. The techniques of modern economics gave hope to governments worldwide that unemployment could be banished’.3
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Fraser was at the intellectual heart of Europe, and, for the first time since his early childhood, he felt free. ‘There were rules, sure, but I thought I’d escaped something, and it was a very exciting and optimistic time.’ As is traditional at Oxford and Cambridge universities, Fraser’s chief identification was with his college, Magdalen, rather than with the university as a whole. Like most undergraduates he lived in college and had a scout—a manservant—who was not backward in ticking off the students if they made too much mess. Fraser had his own bedroom and living room in one of the more modern parts of the college. He had a washbasin in his room and shared a bathroom. Magdalen was an ancient and beautiful institution, but even here there was only limited shelter from the hardships of postwar Britain. In many practical ways, life was grim. Meals were held in the dining hall. Rationing applied. There was little meat, other than fowl of some kind. ‘It certainly wasn’t chicken. It was both fowl and foul’, remembers Fraser. The Magdalen rowing team had to be fed whale meat to give them enough protein for training. ‘For about three days people envied them the meat. Then at the end of the week there were members of the team trying to get out of rowing so they didn’t have to eat any more whale. It was probably a bit better than boarding school. You could order a drink if you wanted to.’ Fraser familiarised himself with Audit ale, ‘so thick you could eat it’, and watched the dons at the high table, each with their own little carafe of wine, ‘to make sure that they all got equal shares and nobody hogged it’.


Under the Oxford college system, Fraser’s principal intellectual relationship was with his college tutor, and in this he was fortunate. His tutor was Thomas Dewar Weldon, known to everyone as Harry, a key figure at Oxford. Weldon had served in World War I, in which he was wounded and decorated. Like Fraser’s father, he had been in the Royal Field Artillery. The war marked Weldon deeply; his colleagues claimed that he never fully recovered emotionally. A tall man with a military bearing, he was antagonistic to some of the more traditional Oxford dons, including CS Lewis, who described Weldon as the most hard-boiled atheist he had ever known. He devoted himself to his students, always available to them with a glass of whisky or wine and a preparedness to discuss both the course material and the wider world. The Oxford Dictionary of National Biography says of Weldon that he ‘did not suffer fools gladly and he was intolerant of lazy thinking; yet he could also be a loyal friend. This combination of qualities helped win the respect of his peers’.4 To Fraser, Weldon was an exemplar of energetic, thoughtful pragmatism. Weldon convinced the young Australian that philosophy was important, and a practical pursuit.


Weldon was, according to his biographers, responsible not only for forming the Modern Greats curriculum, but also for transforming Magdalen from an easy-going place in which wealth and family position were key selection criteria to an academic meritocracy. He was propelled to make Magdalen a centre for the type of modern thought that would lead mankind to a better future. Thus, the Magdalen that Fraser entered was a very different, and much more demanding, institution from the one his father had known before World War I.5


Weldon was known for his work on logic. Rather than searching for ultimate truth, he was interested in clarity and clear thinking. His first book, published four years before Fraser was at Oxford, was an introduction to Immanuel Kant. When Fraser arrived, Weldon was re-establishing himself after having his career interrupted by war once again. He had been the personal assistant of Air Vice-Marshal Arthur Harris of Bomber Command, involved in justifying to sceptical politicians Harris’s strategy of bombing German cities. Replying to the accusation of terrorism, Weldon had explained the attacks by arguing that they aimed to shorten the war and thus reduce the number of human lives lost. In later years, after a whisky or two, and too many ‘logic-chopping tutorials’, Weldon would ask students to nominate how many human lives they thought Cologne Cathedral was worth.6


During his first year at Oxford, Fraser had to work hard at understanding and getting to grips with the tides of thought that made up his course of politics, philosophy and economics. After being near the top of his class throughout his school career, now he felt that he knew nothing—about either the course material or the state of the world. At Oxford, thrown into the deep end of modernist thought, he was a relatively untutored colonial boy. Nor did his family’s social position mean much here. He was an outsider, and he was green. His fellow undergraduates were more sophisticated and knowledgeable in every way. Fraser remembers, ‘They would have understood apartheid. I said, “What’s apartheid?” Apartheid wouldn’t have been written up much in Australian newspapers, and I didn’t read newspapers in those days. I probably would have argued, if I said anything at all, that the policy is equal but separate development. If it is equal development, what is wrong with that? That shows you how much I knew. But people around Oxford University had been condemning it. There was a South African—he just didn’t want to go home. Pressure compelled him to go home. He just felt appalled at what was being done in 1948 and 1949’. In fear of failure and humiliation, Fraser set about catching up.


To begin with, Weldon was simply terrifying. At their first meeting, when Fraser’s bags were barely unpacked, Weldon thrust at him a copy of John Maynard Keynes’s General Theory of Employment, Interest and Money. ‘Write a 2000-word essay on this by next Friday’, he said. Fraser had never heard of Keynes. He went to the library and began to struggle with the book. He felt as though he were illiterate. ‘What did the terms mean, the marginal productivity of capital? Somebody with my sort of education knew nothing about this.’ He wrote 2000 words. ‘The worst rubbish I ever wrote—absolute crap. Absolutely pathetic drivel.’ He doesn’t remember Weldon’s response. Probably, Fraser reflects, the task was designed to sort the geniuses from those who needed more work. He understood only too well that he fell into the latter category.


There were others who marked Fraser. One was the leading liberal thinker Isaiah Berlin. Fraser remembers Berlin ‘putting his head on one side and talking nineteen to the dozen’ as he taught them modern logic. Another was the philosopher Gilbert Ryle, who was credited with restoring Oxford to a leading place in philosophy. His book Concept of Mind was one of the texts that Fraser meticulously noted. Ryle was against metaphysical assumptions, and Fraser agreed with him. In one of his essays, Fraser wrote:


 


I must from the start deny the existence of the mind as distinct from the body. I will admit no hidden entity. As Ryle puts it, there is no machine within the machine … If a machine makes a mistake we say it has gone wrong and fetch the mechanic. To a person we are much more likely to say ‘Have another try’.


In the same essay, Fraser rejected the notion of determinism, because without free will, he said, ‘morality also goes out the door’. In a marginal note in his exercise books he asked himself, ‘Is there anything to be said for metaphysics? The idea that God exists is a nonsense’. This attitude—what CS Lewis might have called ‘hard-boiled atheism’—did not persist. Fraser continued to reject metaphysical assumptions as a foundation for human reasoning, law or politics, yet embraced ‘something of the metaphysic’ as the core of his motivation in public life. ‘There is no point talking about it, because you can’t prove it’, he says. And yet were it not for that ‘something of the metaphysic’, he would not have entered politics. ‘I suppose I would have entered a commercial career and tried to make as much money as a number of my contemporaries have done.’7


It was the work of Keynes that in many ways topped and tailed Fraser’s experience at Oxford. He not only got to grips with Keynes; he came to regard him as one of the main reasons for the optimistic spirit of the times. Keynes justified the belief that mankind could solve its problems. ‘He was a man who gave hope. He gave encouragement. You could build a better world. You didn’t have to live in this miserable, wretched world.’ Among Fraser’s university essays and notes there is a draft of a speech about Keynes. It is not clear when it was written, though there is a reference at the beginning to a forthcoming political event that may have been the 1950 election. It begins:


 


JM Keynes has had a profound influence on your life and mine. He was not like Churchill or Disraeli: a man whose actions appear in the headlines of national papers. His work, though, is no less important and was accomplished quietly. The main result of his teaching brings untold benefits to every man and woman irrespective of nationality. I want to remind you of the world into which he was born and to show you how he rid that world of one important and ever-present fear.


The fear to which Fraser referred was economic depression. The speech went on to sketch Keynes’s life story. It explained the importance of the gold standard in governing the wealth of nations—how gold flows in and out of a country to pay the difference between imports and exports.


 


If England found that the goods were not selling abroad she would soon have to export gold. Through the central Bank of England and the trading banks, gold was closely bound to the internal credit position of industry and commerce. This meant that a persistent gold drain resulted in tighter credit conditions and in low wage rates … This system was thought to be unchanging and self-governing.


It had, Fraser wrote, worked well until World War I, but since then had become unfeasible and, in any case, ‘the system was always bad’, because the level of domestic employment depended directly upon the external trade balance. ‘Slumps and depressions were an accepted part of the unchanging order of things.’


Into this stepped Keynes, having gained experience and reputation in India. Lloyd George called on him to join the Treasury at the beginning of World War I. Keynes saw that the gold standard was unworkable and began to lobby for its abolition and for the establishment of an international financial body. He went to Versailles as part of the team negotiating peace. Fraser wrote that Keynes, among others, had been opposed to the Australian Prime Minister Billy Hughes, who was advocating that Germany be punished for what it had done. Hughes wanted vengeance. Keynes rose above such base motives: he wanted a generous peace. Vengeance won out. Horrified at the terms extracted from Germany, convinced that they would lead to more trouble, Keynes resigned from the Treasury in protest and wrote his book The Economic Consequences of the Peace. ‘Time’, wrote Fraser, ‘proved Keynes right’, and not only about Versailles. By the mid 1920s it was clear that the gold standard was no longer working. Fraser wrote: ‘For the first time practice had shown that the traditional dislike of devaluation together with the semi-religious attachment for the gold standard had resulted in great domestic trouble caused by the inherent incapacity of the system’.


The Depression came. In the middle of it, Keynes published his General Theory, the book Fraser had so struggled with in his first week at Oxford. Now he wrote:


 


The book revolutionised economic thinking and government financial policies … The cruelty of the gold standard … was finally exposed. The book showed how governments could control the economic activity of a country through the budget and central bank finance. For the first time economic equilibrium was regarded as something that men could achieve by skilful manipulation of these tools. The automatic fatality of the gold standard that guaranteed a slump about once every eleven years was gone.


The result of Keynes’s work, Fraser concluded, was that:


 


Men no longer throw up their hands in despair at inflation and depression. They set to work to do something about it, before the disease becomes painful. And this is Keynes’s great achievement. Before him we did not think there was anything we could do about it … It is for us now with hope and with reason to make full use of the knowledge Keynes left behind him. We have the technical knowledge to keep the economy on a level keel and our success depends on how skilful we become in allying the economic answers with what is politically expedient.


Fraser does not remember writing this speech. He is sure he did not deliver it. He says he never made a speech of any significance until his pre-selection address after his return to Australia. He attended the Oxford Union, the famous debating society where would-be politicians cut their teeth, yet never dreamed of giving a speech there himself. ‘I was an undergraduate and I had been brought up in a world that said that children should be seen and not heard and not interfere in the affairs of people who are senior and whatever. Now we live with an egalitarian approach to life. My grandson, in a restaurant, from the age of about three, would go around from table to table and ask people, “What do you do? Where are you from?” Even as an undergraduate I would have shrivelled to death from fear before I could do anything like that.’ But Fraser recognises the sentiments of the speech, and fifty-five years of political experience have not dimmed his enthusiasm for Keynes. Today he describes him as ‘by far the best economist of the last century. I also think he has been the most maligned and misunderstood economist of the last century’.


This is an enthusiasm that will surprise those who remember Fraser’s prime ministership in terms of razor gangs and cuts to government spending—the beginning of the fashion for small government. Keynes’s contribution to economic thought was about the importance of interventionist government. He advocated the use of government spending to mitigate the adverse effects of recessions and depressions. For most of the last forty years, Keynes has been out of fashion; instead, it is his antagonists—Friedrich Hayek and Milton Friedman—with their philosophy of small government and unrestrained market forces, who have carried the age. Only with the global economic crisis that began in 2008 has Keynes’s name been mentioned again with approval. Fraser was always an admirer.


Fraser remembers arguing during his prime ministership with his speechwriter David Kemp. Kemp wanted Fraser to say something disparaging about Keynes and Fraser didn’t want to. Fraser gave way to Kemp, and regrets it. ‘On the day, it was just a fight I didn’t want to spend energy on.’ Keynes, says Fraser, was misunderstood. He was writing in the teeth of the Depression. Increased government spending was the appropriate prescription for the times. ‘If he had been writing for the 1960s or 1970s, he would have been writing in quite different ways. He would then have said, “This is a time for a government to spend less money, and all those governments that are spending more money are causing inflation and not safeguarding their economies. They are adding to the boom”. I think that economic rationalists had to destroy what there was before they could get people to fully embrace the world that now exists, and so, you know, it became a slur to say “That is Keynesian economics” when the government borrowed money. Well, Keynes was advocating that people should borrow money in the 1930s, when there was massive unemployment, massive unused resources, massive depression. He would not have recommended that for the governments in Europe in the 1960s and 1970s who were spending far too much money, borrowed money, and running up huge deficits. That was regarded as Keynesian economics, but it wasn’t Keynesian economics. He would have opposed that absolutely. It was easier just to say that it was Keynesian economics because they wanted to destroy Keynes.’


[image: Image]


There is a convention among archivists that the order of archival papers not be disturbed more than is necessary for their preservation. The way in which a donor kept their papers might seem haphazard, but is usually idiosyncratic, revealing of connections apparent in no other way. So it is that the archival box containing Fraser’s university notes and essays also contains the notes for the speech that saw him launch his political career and obtain pre-selection for the seat of Wannon in the year after his return to Australia. This speech is of a piece with his Oxford studies.


Fraser’s adult political development began at Oxford. There, his intellect was awakened, as was his idealism; Oxford set him on his course. ‘There was nothing before Oxford, really’, he says. What Oxford taught him, he says, was ‘how to think’. Yet although he was profoundly marked by Oxford, he did not leave much mark upon it. In later years, Australian journalists made the trip to Magdalen in search of details on Prime Minister Fraser. Oxford dons struggled to remember him. Harry Woodley, the head porter at Magdalen during Fraser’s time there, remembered him as ‘fairly reserved, not what I’d call a good mixer … He was a very pleasant chap, but I couldn’t imagine him on the hustings’.8 The journalists made the obvious comparison with another Oxford man, Bob Hawke, who was well remembered, as much for his partying and drinking exploits as for his academic brilliance.


Fraser, on the other hand, was a fascinated and engaged spectator at Oxford, rather than a participant. He admired his tutors, but did not develop strong personal relationships with them. He had no mentors. He was still, in many ways, locked within himself. As he travelled silently from lecture to lecture, and from tutorial to tutorial, thinking his thoughts and writing his essays, Fraser began to see his shyness not as strength, but as weakness—even a curse. He was ashamed of it, and viewed it as something that was fitting and necessary for a man such as himself to overcome. He had no idea how this might be done. Yet the draft of his undelivered speech on Keynes shows that he had things to say, and wanted to say them.


Socially he was less inhibited. Never the life of the party, he nevertheless was part of a tight-knit group of about eight fellow undergraduates, and together they would kick back in the comfortable lounge rooms of Magdalen and talk ‘about the affairs of the day, about nonsense, about lectures’. They went drinking together at the Eastgate Hotel opposite the college, and on one occasion Fraser drank so much at a restaurant that he had to be carried home.


One of Fraser’s best friends was a scholarship boy, Nicholas Browne-Wilkinson, who went on to become head of the Privy Council and Vice-Chancellor of the High Court. It was Browne-Wilkinson who, in 1999, delivered the watershed judgement concerning Augustus Pinochet, the Chilean dictator charged with crimes against humanity—one of the most important events in the history of international law. Another friend was a brilliant law student, Colin Forbes, who mystified Fraser by committing suicide shortly after leaving university. ‘He had so much going for him’, says Fraser. ‘What drives people to that?’ John Turner, future Prime Minister of Canada, was also part of the group, and Fraser kept in touch with him throughout both of their political careers. Also a friend was Raymond Bonham-Carter, son of the political activist Violet Bonham-Carter, who was in turn the daughter of Prime Minister Asquith. Raymond Bonham-Carter became a leading banker and figure in British public affairs, as well as the father of the actress Helena Bonham-Carter.


This small group was not part of the elite at Oxford. With the exception of Bonham-Carter, they were neither the richest nor the best connected, yet clearly they included some of the most able. Fraser, the boy from down under, lacked some of the social connections of his friends. He remembers Bonham-Carter being surprised when he turned up, courtesy of some of his London-based cousins, at one of the prestigious ‘coming out’ parties that served as a marriage market among the English upper classes. ‘He didn’t mean to be offensive. He just was surprised that I had the connections to get there.’


In his second year at Oxford, Fraser fell in love. This is one of the things he will not talk about. ‘No, I’m not going down that track.’ Some of the story, though, is already on the public record in a previous biography.9 The woman was Anne Reid, an Australian whom he met at a party in London. For a while, it seemed that both the Fraser children might be destined to marry poets. Lorri was with Bertie Whiting, and Malcolm was pursuing Reid, who also wrote poetry. Reid was an idealist, and a romantic. It was she who ended the affair with Fraser, and it apparently caused him great pain. She went on to marry the historian Geoffrey Fairbairn, who was one of the few academics who supported the Liberal government’s prosecution of the Vietnam War. As Anne Fairbairn, she advocated poetry as a ‘universal language’ that could bind people from different cultures—particularly from Australia and the Arab world. In 1998 she was awarded an Order of Australia for services to literature and international relations.


At the end of Fraser’s second year, thanks to his parents’ generosity, he was able to buy his first car—a Jowett Javelin. That summer he and three of his friends took it for a trip around Europe. Money was tight, and the budget was a total of twenty-two pounds and ten pence for three weeks, including car fare, tickets, petrol and food. There was nothing left for accommodation, which alarmed Fraser’s English friends. He proposed that they sleep out under the stars, as people did when travelling in Australia, and so they slept in the open when it was fine and in the car when it rained. They went for a week without a bath, and ate raw rolled oats for breakfast because they swelled in the stomach and stopped them from feeling hungry.


This was the social climate in which Fraser came to intellectual adulthood. He was surrounded by big intellects, big ideas and lively idealism. He was in every sense awakened.
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In Fraser’s final year at Oxford, he found another thinker who shared his hunger for activism, and his idealism. Arnold Toynbee was a fashionable historian at the time. He made headlines with his immense comparative history of the world—twelve volumes in all—in which he suggested that human affairs can be analysed in terms of universal rhythms of rise, flowering and decline. ‘I only read the two-volume digest’, says Fraser. ‘That was enough.’ Toynbee drew on myths and metaphors as much as on hard historical fact to reject determinist ideas of history. His was a sweeping and inspiring analysis, based not on nation-states alone but on civilisations, including religious groupings. It was possible, he said, for civilisations and empires to shape their own destinies. All civilisations are faced with threats and challenges; how they respond determines whether they triumph or fail. ‘Civilisations die from suicide, not by murder’, Toynbee wrote. Civilisations have to change, to grow, or they will die. Thus, conservatism is the way of death. It is essential to be progressive and active. Keynes and Toynbee seemed to Fraser to go together. Man was the master of his own destiny. ‘I was probably attracted to Toynbee’s theory because it was hopeful. Nothing was inevitable: you could take control’, he says. Fraser was to return to Toynbee’s ideas repeatedly in his early political speeches. Before he left Oxford he was already thinking about the ways in which Toynbee’s model applied to Australia.


Also at Oxford was the historian AJP Taylor. Fraser went to his lectures even though he did not need to for his course. Everyone knew that Taylor was writing a book. ‘If a man was writing a book, I thought you should go and hear him speak. If the book was already written, then you could just read the book.’ Taylor was exactly the kind of intellectual Fraser had been taught to suspect. He was a former communist, but Fraser found him a free thinker rather than an ideologue. In his lectures, he offered a view of foreign policy and of communism that challenged Fraser’s predispositions. ‘I remember making quite a study of the Korean War, because of what Taylor was saying’, he says. By the time he had finished his study, Fraser in many ways agreed with Taylor’s views: ‘I respected his independence of mind, his rejection of the slavish orthodoxy of some Marxist thought; and he argued well and his views had substance’. But Fraser did not agree with all of Taylor’s analysis. It was, he noted, the United Nations, part of the new machinery of international hope, that had asked the Western nations to go to the defence of South Korea. It was not US imperialism. The Korean War was part of a larger conflict, in which two civilisations, the West and Communism, were trying to determine the future of the world. The name for this conflict was on everyone’s lips: the Cold War. In Oxford, people spoke mostly of the battle over Europe. In Australia, Fraser knew, the frontier was South-East Asia. This was Australia’s challenge: the challenge that Fraser had been pondering in the light of Toynbee’s ideas.


Meanwhile Britain under Labour was establishing the welfare state and nationalising industry while still recovering from World War II. Outside the beautiful walls of Magdalen College, with its landmark tower and its deer park, the country looked grim. In London there were dilapidated, unpainted buildings. It took most of the decade to repair bomb damage in the major cities. The people were shabbily dressed. There were few cars on the road, and because of postwar balance of payment problems, the best British goods went for export. Many kinds of food were still rationed. On the one hand, the British working class was probably better off than ever before: rationing at least meant that nobody went hungry. On the other hand, the country was bankrupt and drab. This was the Britain that inspired George Orwell’s 1984—a place where government control was total. In Australia, the fear, both familiar to Fraser from childhood and newly threatening, was that the countries of South-East Asia would ‘go communist’. In England, the question was how far the Labour government would push socialism.


What did communism mean to the young Fraser? It was the opposing philosophy to liberalism. It was the challenge to human reason. It meant: ‘Complete lack of personal freedom. Complete government control. Total government domination by the state of all the individuals in the state. No political freedom, no individual freedom. I believe the state should survive to protect the rights of individuals, but in my mind communism saw the individual’s purpose as being to serve the state. That was the reverse of what it ought to be. If you are really trying to define the ultimate objective of communism, it would be that the state would own production, distribution and everything. It would own everything, which means it would own the people as well’. The difference between socialism and communism, he understood, was that socialism could be established by democratic means, whereas communism was imposed by force. He was against both because they put the state ahead of the individual. But it was communism that Fraser feared. There could be no doubt, watching events in Europe and South-East Asia, that the Soviet Union was outward-looking and aggressive.


Yet at Oxford Fraser had learned to be optimistic and pragmatic. ‘The end of the war, victory in the Pacific, carried with it the message that human beings could sort things out, could resolve their differences. And the United States and Russia were talking, even though Russia was saying that communism must thrive and therefore the United States must fall. The United States didn’t sit back and say, “We won’t talk until you acknowledge our right to exist”.’


Fraser now draws a comparison with the present day, and the refusal of the West to negotiate with its opponents. ‘Western policies have again made it so easy for the terrorists. For some time the West had been urging and encouraging democratic elections, not only in Palestine but throughout the Middle East. When Hamas won the free and fair democratic election, that should have been predictable to anyone with knowledge of Palestine. It would have been possible to say to Hamas, “From our point of view your attitudes and policies must change, but you have won a democratic election; therefore, we will talk, we will negotiate”. Little by little it may have been possible to find areas of agreement. Instead, the United States and others refused to talk to Hamas and cut off aid. They forced Hamas back to the weapons that it had known from the beginning: to violence, to warfare. In the process of reneging on their own principles, the West gave the terrorists a major weapon; democracy would only be acceptable if it gave the result the West wanted.’ Always, Fraser says, one should keep talking. This is the essence of diplomacy and of pragmatism—of managing human affairs through reason, not ideology.
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Academically, Fraser did not do particularly well at Oxford. His results slipped in his final year. Why was this, given his intense engagement with the ideas that underpinned the curriculum? Fraser makes no excuses: ‘I didn’t work hard enough. It was my own fault, I think. I worked very hard in the first year, because I wasn’t sure that I could master anything or everything, and by the end of the second term you had to do exams which decided whether you stayed in the place or didn’t stay in the place. Well, I got through that quite well, and in the second year I probably worked reasonably hard, and in the third year I worked less hard’. Another problem was the verbal examination, designed to see whether a candidate should transfer to a higher degree. ‘I don’t think I handled that very well. I thought the questioner was asking me questions which I’d covered in the written papers, and so instead of going through it again, I said on a couple of occasions, “Well, I thought I’d answered that adequately in the written papers”, where clearly he was wanting more.’ Fraser was still locked in himself.


Others have suggested that the reasons for his ordinary results might include the pain of his relationship with Anne Reid.10 Fraser’s mother remembered that there was a time when her son was homesick, and talked of abandoning his course and coming home.11 Whatever the reason, Fraser graduated in 1952 with a third-class degree, about halfway down the field of 228 students who took their degrees that year.


More significant than his result, though, was the impact that Oxford had had on him. There was no one moment in which it became clear to him that he wanted a political career. Rather, he was ‘caught up in the notion that it was a time for hope. A time for doing things. I was caught up in the belief that a better world should be built. That was part of what these different people and lecturers were trying to do. Harry Weldon at one point in a tutorial was asked, “What’s the line?” He said, “There is no line; you’ve got to work it out for yourself. All we can do is to try to help your thought processes. Try to think clearly”. They were trying to teach people to think, because that was what was needed in this new world’. But what could he, Fraser, do in the world if he could not speak, and engage, and persuade? Politics had always been there. ‘Perhaps I began to think at this stage that politics might be combined with farming, which of course you can’t really do. If you want to achieve anything in politics it is all-consuming.’ The one clear thought he had was that while he was happy to return to Nareen and help his father on the farm, this was not all that he wanted to do. There had to be more; he had to reach out. He had to speak, and take his place.


Another eighteen months of study, and he could have had a law degree. Some of his friends suggested he should do two years of national service. ‘I can remember somebody in particular wanting me to join the 60th Rifles.’ But Fraser felt in his heart that if he didn’t return home now, he might never do so. He had few friends from school. ‘I was getting to the stage that most of the friends I had were in England. I thought that if I had all my friends in England and none in Australia, it would be hard to leave, and I didn’t want to get into that position.’ He had never been in any doubt about where his future lay. He had grown up. He wanted to go home.





3


The Candidate Must Have a Voice


Malcolm Fraser is used to strangers approaching him in shops and in the street to tell him that he looks extraordinarily like a former Australian Prime Minister. ‘Yes, people have said that to me before’, he replies archly. He finds this slightly less surprising than the times when he is recognised, and by people who were not born when he led the country. ‘A while ago I took the grandchildren into a place that I hate, McDonald’s. They wanted a Big Mac. I took them in and there were not many people, but there was a young girl, about eighteen, mopping the floor. She said, “You are Malcolm Fraser”, and I said, “Yes”.’ Over the French fries and soft drinks, she congratulated him on a speech he had made criticising the Howard government’s record on human rights. In particular, he had criticised the treatment of asylum seekers and the new legislation aimed at countering terrorism. Fraser had recalled the Liberal Party that he had joined more than forty years previously. He had said that Menzies had intended the Liberal Party to be one of


 


progressive ideas, a forward-looking party, willing to make experiments … a party that believes fervently in the rule of law, in higher education accessible to all able students, in a government accepting national obligations and a vision for the future, a party that slowly abolished the White Australia policy and broadened Australia to a more open, multicultural society. It was a party of hope and of vision.1


Now he wondered if he could remain a Liberal. ‘The party has become a party of fear and reaction. It is conservative and not liberal. It has not led in positive directions; it has allowed and, some would say, promoted race and religion to be part of today’s agenda. I find it unrecognisable as liberal.’ Fraser had detailed the ways in which the terrorism legislation offended liberal ideals. The onus of proof of guilt was effectively reversed. People could be arrested without being told why, and for knowing something that they didn’t know they knew. Journalists would not be able to report that such people had been arrested without themselves being jailed. Personal freedom had never been so eroded by an Australian government, he said. This was a law that one would expect in tyrannical countries and not in Australia.


Now this young woman in McDonald’s was congratulating him on his inflammatory words. ‘Stick it to ’em, stick it to ’em!’ she said, and he thanked her, and she went on mopping the floor. ‘She was obviously someone who was interested in public policy and who read newspapers. And there she was cleaning McDonald’s with a big mop. Perhaps she was a university student making a bit of money. They do all kinds of things these days.’


Such encounters make Fraser wonder how and whether it is possible to describe the Australia of the 1950s—the country to which he returned after Oxford—to a new generation. How does one convey that the present day is not the first time that Australia and the Western world have faced a threat to freedom? Fraser knows that much of the rhetoric of those times, including the speeches he made, seems shrill today, even foolish. How to help young people to understand the political imperatives of the time? How, even, to convey the ordinary physical realities of an Australia that was so much poorer in material possessions, in which skinny children were more common than the well fed, in which there was no such thing as McDonald’s, or fast food, and in which an apple could still be a treat for a child? How to talk of a country in which only a small number of privileged young people went to university, and for most adults hard physical labour was necessary for almost any kind of security, let alone advancement? The divisions in society were harsher then, and harder to overcome. Is it possible for a new generation to understand what it meant to be born in the Depression to parents scarred by world war, and to come to adulthood at a time when almost everyone older than oneself had made wartime sacrifices for the country?


The present-day world has fears enough for its time, but Australia in the 1950s was also strung between fear and hope. Another war, this time with the Soviet Union, seemed likely and perhaps inevitable, and who knew how many Australians would be loyal to the cause? There were communists in the country’s main trade unions. There were politicians with sympathies towards Moscow. Among Australia’s intellectuals and in the unions there were many who thought it inevitable and desirable that socialism would become the natural order. Only a few years before, Labor had tried to nationalise the nation’s banks, and this was still its policy.


The rights and wrongs of the past can seem crystal-clear, but when one stands in the present and looks forwards, the road is always covered in mist. So how much of what Fraser did and said back then was right, and necessary, and would make sense to that young woman mopping the floor? And how much was wrong? How should a liberal democracy defend itself against those devoted to its violent overthrow, and what are the limits of political freedom?


Fraser was a modernist. He wanted reform. He wanted what today would be called social justice. He did not want socialism. He returned to the Western District of Victoria in the winter of 1952, aged twenty-two. His social position and his inheritance were givens. He need have made no effort to become the owner and manager of Nareen in his father’s stead. But he wanted to do more than this. Within weeks of arriving he had decided that he would not refer to himself as a grazier or a pastoralist; those words carried too many innuendos of class and privilege. Instead, he gave his occupation on forms as ‘primary producer’, and continued to describe himself in this way from then on, in election pamphlets and even on his marriage certificate.


Beyond the Western District the dominant ideological themes of the time were communism and socialism, and what they meant for Australia and the Western world. The Korean War had not yet ended. Australian armed forces were part of the coalition resisting communist insurrection in Malaya. In Europe, the Berlin airlift, in which the US and British governments had countered a Soviet blockade by flying in food and the necessities of life to west Berlin, had ended just three years earlier, but had confirmed the division of Berlin, and Germany, into two units. Communism seemed on the move everywhere, and the threat was both internal and external. It was to become Fraser’s primary concern.


The society that Fraser re-entered was sharply stratified. In the nearby town of Hamilton, the graziers drank at the Hamilton Club, while the working men and agricultural labourers drank in the front bar of the local pubs. It was us and them, but the graziers and the landholders could not assume that their views held sway. They were outnumbered, and this was a democracy.


The federal seat of Wannon, in which Nareen was located, was held by Labor and had been for all but three of the previous twelve years. Stretching from the Mallee to the sea, from the South Australian border to the eastern edge of the Grampians, Wannon was the second-largest electorate in the state, and one of the most diverse. The region’s roads were still mainly unsealed, and it was five hours’ drive from the centre of Wannon to Melbourne, but there was no sheltering from change, progress and threat. Almost every rural industry was represented in the electorate. In the south-west, the little town of Portland was being developed by a cooperative as a major deepwater port that could serve all of central Victoria and much of South Australia. This offered vast possibilities, but also challenges. Over the next few years, its advancement would become a threat to the vested interests that gathered around Melbourne and Geelong. Advocacy for Portland was one of the first political battles for the young Fraser.


In the southern districts of the electorate around the coast, and in the east, the Catholic Church was dominant, with the population largely of Irish descent and Labor voters by habit and class loyalty. In the farming areas, the squattocracy was offset by soldier settlers who had struggled hard to make a living from their blocks. Mechanisation was only just beginning to affect agriculture. The big farms still relied on small armies of agricultural labourers. In the main towns, there were woollen mills and butter factories. One of the region’s fastest growing businesses was the clothing manufacturer Fletcher Jones, based in Warrnambool. Its founder had converted the business into one largely owned by its workers after being influenced by the Japanese labour activist Toyohiko Kagawa, who proposed cooperative economic systems as an alternative to capitalism.


Even for the well-off in Wannon, life was indescribably different from what it is today. Nareen had no washing machine; instead, there was a scrubbing board. There was no refrigerator, but a Coolgardie meat safe—a cupboard with mesh doors and a damp cloth draped into a tray of water to keep meat cool through evaporation. Before Fraser had left for Oxford, the house had relied on batteries for electricity, which meant lights were always being turned off to save power. While he was away, his father had bought a diesel generator that started automatically when the first light was switched on. ‘You waited about twenty-five seconds after you had turned the light on before you would get light. Then everyone would say, “You turned the light on? Quick, turn some more lights on!” because you didn’t want the engine running with too light a load.’ The rural parts of the Western District were not connected to mains electricity until the early 1960s.


Fraser could hardly have felt further away from Oxford, yet he was enormously happy to be home. The country—its smells and colours—still moved him. He was back in the ute, driving in clouds of dust, and on horseback. He was crutching sheep and spreading fertiliser. But now he had a sense of mission: there had to be more. His childhood and his education had left him with a disposition towards activism, now underpinned by an intellectual appreciation of liberalism. Two contradictory impulses drove him: the child who had been told that he should be seen and not heard, and the young adult who had a determination, even a compulsion, to make a difference, but had yet to find either the confidence or the voice.


Fraser is apt to describe his entry into politics as an accident, ‘or at least the timing was, anyway’. Yet in hindsight it seems clear that something of the kind was bound to happen. Within weeks of arriving home he was thinking about politics. He went to meetings of the Young Liberals in Hamilton, and there met the organiser for the electorate of Wannon Brian Cowling. The electorate was held by Labor’s Don McLeod, a sixty-year-old World War I veteran and soldier settler who was well liked and hard-working, but not a high political achiever. The Liberal Party candidate was Dan Mackinnon, who had held the seat briefly, between 1949 and 1951, during the one period in recent history when Labor had lost the numbers. Wannon had always been a struggle for the Liberals. It was by no means a blue-ribbon seat. Mackinnon, having battled it out for years, was now considering running for the more easily winnable marginal neighbouring seat of Corangamite, in which he lived. That would leave the Liberal candidacy for Wannon vacant. There would have to be pre-selection. Even before Mackinnon made his intentions clear, Fraser was on the move. Cowling suggested to him that he should stand for pre-selection. He wouldn’t win, of course—he was too young and not well known—but showing an interest would stand him in good stead if he was interested in a political career later in life.


A few miles up the road from Nareen lived Claude Austin, a family friend, local councillor and leading member of the Coleraine branch of the Liberal Party. Austin was an unusual man—anything but hidebound and conservative. He had turned his attention to national affairs after returning from World War II. He was, Fraser recalls, ‘large and bluff, generally sucking on a pipe’. He was also a nature lover, and what these days would be called an ardent conservationist. He and his wife had been leading clients of the famous Australian garden designer Edna Walling, who had sculpted them a naturalistic garden at their homestead. Austin was also one of the prominent bird watchers of his time. Now, in the spring of 1952, Austin took a phone call from Malcolm Fraser. His young neighbour told him he was thinking of going into politics, and would like his advice. Austin invited Fraser around that afternoon, then turned to his wife and told her what the call had been about. She was staggered. Young Fraser was so shy and awkward; she could not imagine anyone less likely to be a politician.2


Austin, meanwhile, was thinking hard. The conventional view was that if Mackinnon moved on, he would be replaced by the former senator Magnus Cormack, who lived in Portland and who had been State President of the party. Austin, though, was no fan of Cormack. He thought him arrogant and dismissive, and he didn’t like his views. Yet there was no reason to think the raw and awkward Fraser would do instead, or that he was the man who could wrest the seat from Labor. Fraser had not grown up in the district, and had been away at school or at Oxford for most of the time since the family moved into the area. Nevertheless, when Fraser arrived, Austin heard him out, then asked him how hard he was prepared to work. Whatever Fraser said, it convinced Austin. He told Fraser that he would have next to no chance of winning the pre-selection battle; privately, though, he had decided to help him.


Running for the Liberal Party seemed to Fraser like the only choice, but this was not, or not only, because of the legacy of Simon Fraser: it was because he wanted to join a party that aspired to represent everyone. ‘Some people might have thought the Country Party would be more natural for me, since I was a farmer and all that. But I never wanted to be part of that party. I didn’t want to represent sectional interests. I thought politics should be broader than that. And I thought whatever I had learned from Keynes was totally consistent with the sort of liberalism which Menzies was on about. He was espousing a mixed economy, and his idea of liberalism was never conservative. He was a progressive. Menzies deliberately rejected the British title “conservative”. He never used the word “conservative” in the Australian context.’


A month or two later, Mackinnon announced that he would indeed be moving on. Fraser entered the contest with no great expectations, but, typically, once he was in he thought, ‘To hell with it! No point throwing your hat into the ring and not trying to win. So I started to work at it’. There were to be three candidates for pre-selection: Fraser, Cormack and a Hamilton electrician, GH Robinson. The first challenge for Fraser was to become known. Cowling organised for him and the other candidates to speak at every Liberal Party branch. Fraser made very little impression—not a good speaker, and still too shy to be able to connect—but at least those attending got to know his face, and he was making it clear that he was prepared to work hard.


The convention at which delegates from Wannon Liberal Party branches selected their candidate was held on 11 November 1953— not the last time that Remembrance Day was a significant date in Fraser’s career. He had sweated over a pre-selection speech; the initial typescript had been five pages long.3 There was much in the first draft that would have annoyed Liberals whose notions of the party were conservatism and the defence of business interests. Fraser had begun with an exposition of his ‘ideas on the respective roles of liberalism and of socialism’. He said he was not against progressive ideas: the Labor parties of England and Australia had carried on the tradition of the nineteenth-century Gladstonian liberals, ‘a tradition of social reform, fair rents, factory laws and pensions, rather than one of socialism … Few of us would deny that many great and humane reforms have come from the left side of politics’. But since the war, he said, there had been a change in the temper of the Labor parties of the two countries. The source and inspiration for their social reforms had dried up, and therefore:


 


They had turned to the central core of their platform, the nationalisation of the means of production, distribution and exchange, to which we are bitterly opposed. They chose their time well, especially in England, for there the ravages and havoc of war had left a vast majority of the people ready for a change, and the change offered was socialism.


Fraser spent several pages talking about the Atlee government in England, and its nationalisation of coal, electricity, railways, road transport, iron, steel and the Bank of England. Even here Fraser was not uniformly opposed. In accord with what he had learned at Oxford, he adopted the stance of a utilitarian. ‘There are only two standards of criticism of government action: does it make more people happier and does it make things run more efficiently.’ Railways, coal and electricity, he said, probably ran as well under government control as in private hands, but, ‘The effect of nationalisation on road transport has been disastrous’. The workers had been betrayed, because they were no better off and the boss was still remote and harsh: ‘Their god has proved false and at the moment they have no other god to follow’. The search for new ideas meant that there was a danger that the Labor governments would ‘go off the deep end and into communism’.


This, Fraser said, was a testing time for liberalism. Too often, liberalism had relied upon a negative: opposition to socialism. Liberals had also sometimes been conservative. Such policies ‘in these critical years can only bring disaster’. Liberalism, said Fraser, was not a formula, like socialism, but a way of life.


 


A liberal crusade must take the philosophy and belief in liberalism to everyone, and crusaders must remember that converts can only be made by the example of their own actions ... I want to play some part in this. I am young and would like nothing better than to devote a lifetime to this end.


But even as he sweated over this first draft, Fraser had realised, with some anxiety, that it wouldn’t do: it read like one of his university essays. He needed a different voice, and, although the thought made his mouth dry, he knew that the last thing he should do was read from the typescript. ‘That would be the same as throwing in the towel.’ So he began to work on his public speaking. He stood at one end of Claude Austin’s corridor, with Austin at the other, and practised projecting his voice. Austin would throw in interjections and insults to get him used to dealing with them. By the night of the pre-selection, Fraser had not a typescript but five pages of notes scrawled in his idiosyncratic longhand, each line running slightly uphill from left to right and with the word ‘socialism’ abbreviated to a snake-like ‘s’.


Nearly one hundred delegates from throughout Wannon gathered in the Hamilton Temperance Hall to hear the three candidates. Fraser drove from Nareen through flooded countryside, such a bundle of nerves that he wasn’t sure he would be able to speak at all. Cormack went first. When he finished, he strode out of the hall, went around the back and threw up. Fraser reflected that he wasn’t the only one who was nervous. Then he was on. He told the delegates:


 


There are two reasons I want to stand for this seat. Ever since I can remember I have thought the socialist theory an unhappy one, and in these last few years we have all been given cogent arguments against socialism. It is the universality of the theory which leads to its application in inappropriate cases that does the harm.


He referred to the Atlee government in postwar England and used the phrase ‘He has worshipped a false god and has no other god to follow’ in referring to the English worker. The Labor Party in Australia would assuredly drive towards nationalisation if it were given the power, he said.


 


I bitterly oppose socialism, but hatred of a doctrine is not enough to drive me into a lifelong career; there must be the other side. I could not enter this fight versus socialism if I did not love Australia, if I did not think she had a great industrial as well as agricultural future … It is not the greatness of this country in terms of power, productivity and population but in terms of individual people, the people I work with at home and the people I meet and see in Casterton. Each man from the street cleaner to the industrialist behind a rich desk has an equal right to a full and happy life. Each one has an equal right to go his own way unhampered so long as he does not harm our precious social framework. My wish that men may continue to enjoy this right is the real reason that urges me to enter a lifelong fight versus socialism, and I feel that this fight is worthwhile because of the unique and individual characteristics that I find in every person.


The speech made a favourable impression. Fraser’s nerves showed through, but seemed to work in his favour. Cormack had given a more highly polished presentation, but Fraser’s words seemed to come from the heart. Cormack was well known, but had made enemies in the Western District. Fraser had the merit of freshness.


There was an attempt by Cormack’s supporters to unsettle Fraser by asking him a question about the limits of the liberal ideal. What did he think, for example, of the new anti-trust laws in the United States, designed to restrict monopolies and cartels? Fraser’s Oxford training got him through. He had studied and written essays on this very topic. He had no problem with the idea that monopolies and cartels should be restrained. He says today, ‘If the natural order of something is to be a monopoly, then it is better in government hands than in private hands. Then you can supervise and challenge what is happening. If it is a private monopoly then you need anti-trust laws and all sorts of regulation, and that gets very awkward. Look at Telstra’.


Late that night, Una and Neville Fraser took a call from their son. He was the new Liberal candidate for Wannon. Neville was flabbergasted. Nobody had thought that Fraser would win; indeed, he was not meant to win. The crucial factor had been the branches, and the Liberal Party local delegates’ ability to make their own decisions. Had the party organisation intervened, Fraser wouldn’t have had a chance.


The next day’s newspapers, reporting his success, said he was one of the youngest men ever to stand for an Australian parliament. In the following months, newspapers described him as a Liberal Party ‘baby’, though noted that he was a big infant. Almost every article about him reported his height: 6 feet and 5 inches.4


[image: Image]


The 1954 federal election, the first that Fraser contested, was one of the pivot points of Australian history. Robert Menzies almost lost to Labor, led by Dr Bert Evatt. The Labor Party received 50.1 per cent of the first preference vote, but the votes were in the wrong places, and Labor did not win a majority of seats. A few hundred votes going the other way in the right seats would have reversed the result. Had Labor won, the party split of 1955 which led to the creation of the Catholic-dominated anti-communist Democratic Labor Party would almost certainly not have happened. Had the Democratic Labor Party never existed, the long period of Menziesled Liberal—Country Party dominance might not have happened, or at least would have played out differently. It is hard to conceive how different Australian history might have been.


The Labor Party and the union movement were at this time emerging from a battle for their souls. In the postwar years, the Communist Party had come close to taking over the Australian trade union movement. In 1945, communists had won 40 per cent of the votes at the Australian Council of Trade Unions congress in Sydney. The battle against communist influence had been dominated by the Catholic political activist Bob Santamaria, one of the most influential figures in recent Australian history. With the backing of Archbishop Daniel Mannix and sections of the Catholic Church, Santamaria had founded the Catholic Social Studies Movement, generally known simply as ‘the Movement’. This was a semi-clandestine organisation with the aim of inserting Catholic social and moral values into all sides of politics. As the communists grew in influence, the main focus of the Movement became countering their rise within the Labor movement. To do this, it recruited, infiltrated and backed Catholic activists to oppose communists in the unions. By the mid 1950s, the anti-communist Industrial Groups, or the ‘Groupers’, as they were known, had been largely successful: union after union had come under their domination. In all this, Santamaria had been supported by senior figures within the Labor Party, including Evatt himself. In the lead-up to the 1954 election, Evatt had met Santamaria to discuss methods of countering communist influence. Santamaria later claimed that Evatt had even asked him to write his policy speech for the election.5 It is clear that Evatt anticipated an alliance with the anti-communist Groupers, had he gained power. As Prime Minister, he would have needed their support. The Labor Party had avoided becoming an ideological prisoner of the Moscow-dominated Communist Party, and was stronger as a result. At the time of the election, Labor was in power in all states except South Australia, and most commentators predicted a Labor win over Menzies.


Even in its success, though, the Movement had been sowing the seeds of its defeat. Having largely countered communism, the Movement broadened its focus and ambitions, taking on Labor figures who were not communists but were not sufficiently sympathetic to the Movement’s aims. At the same time, Santamaria held seminars to try to present traditions of labour thought alternative to that of communism.6 But Santamaria had influence in both political parties: while he was dealing with Evatt, he also had a direct line of communication with Menzies. The conduit was the Fraser family’s friend Dick Casey.7


Despite the family connection, Fraser was not fully aware of the behind-the-scenes aspects of the fight against communism, but it was clear to him that Wannon, as a marginal seat, was a significant battleground in what was expected to be a cliffhanger election. Menzies was vulnerable. Inflation was running high, due to a wool boom. To try to bring it under control, Menzies had increased taxation and legislated for a quarter of growers’ wool cheques to be put into a reserve. It was, as Menzies later remarked, ‘the most unpopular budget in modern political history’, and in 1953 the polls showed the government’s stocks at the lowest point ever.8 The Liberal Party stood on its record of development, but, from its point of view, communism and fear of communism were the dominant issues. A leaflet distributed throughout Wannon read: ‘You know that Menzies’s secret ballots gave unionists the power to get rid of the Reds. Don’t give the Reds a second chance. Vote Liberal on May 29’. Another pamphlet gave the ‘ABC of Achievement’ for the Menzies government: ‘A’ was the secret ballot for union elections, a record low in strikes, increased production and increased prosperity; ‘B’ was more homes built, more coal won, rural production encouraged and rationing ended; ‘C’ was record savings, workable health services, strengthened defences and ‘prestige abroad restored’. Labor was given a contrasting ‘ABC of Failure’, the main failings being described as opposition to secret ballots, endless strikes, appeasement of the Reds and ‘socialism run riot’.9


Fraser believed that talking about the threat of communism was not enough to counter it. As he had said in his pre-selection speech, he believed it was necessary to set a personal example and offer a positive alternative. In an electorate like Wannon, remote from the centres of power, the candidate needed to be a conduit between electors and government. Fraser had promised to devote himself full-time to the job, and now he almost lived in his car, driving over dirt roads to every corner of the electorate. It was hard work, but it had its benefits: somehow the nerves, the shyness, began to be conquered. It was not so much that they weren’t there, but that they could not be allowed to matter. ‘A lot of it was just repetition’, he remembers. ‘You drive from one place to another, one time after another, and you see people, hundreds of people sometimes, in a day. And you say, “I’m Malcolm Fraser. I just wanted you to know who I am: I am the Liberal candidate for Wannon. I’m not here to talk about politics and I don’t need to know who you are voting for or against. If you want ask me any questions, I will try to answer them. If I can’t answer them, I’ll get you the answers and talk to you later”. And if they responded and said, “Come and have a cup of tea”, or wanted to talk about this or that, I’d talk about whatever they wanted to talk about. That was the door-opener. By the time you’d said that twenty times a day, and sometimes been invited in and sometimes had the door slammed on you, well, you sort of get over worrying about yourself so much.’


Claude Austin gave him some good advice: ‘Whatever you do, do not be seen at the Hamilton Club’. Fraser remembers, ‘For a long while townspeople would find it very difficult if not impossible to get into the Hamilton Club. That changed, but when I started off in politics it was a reality. It was made worse by the fact that in those days not everyone had cars, and well-off people would drink too much in the Hamilton Club and then the youngsters, kids with more money and property than sense, would go and scream around the town drunk. Hoons, we’d call them these days. You only need one of those stories to really give the whole place a bad name, and you didn’t want to be part of it. I didn’t go into the Hamilton Club until twenty-five years later, when it didn’t matter any more’. Instead, he went into the public bars of hotels all over the electorate. ‘I wouldn’t go into the saloon bar. If you go into the saloon bar you are tagged as thinking yourself a cut above.’ He found that once he was in the public bar, and talk was lubricated with a few beers, his upper-class background didn’t seem to matter so much. ‘Once you get to know people, and they get to know you, then you are generally just accepted for what you are … I tried to disabuse people of their ideas about the Liberal Party. And in that, some of my worst enemies were my colleagues in the party. I was trying to convince people that it was a party for everyone and not an upper-class party or a wealthy party. And sometimes people would look at other Liberals and, well, it didn’t help.’ His family, fortunately, were not frequenters of the Hamilton Club, and were politically savvy enough to understand the ‘problem’ of their social position in the election context. They might have been members of all the ‘right’ clubs in Melbourne, but at home and in Hamilton they were careful. ‘They understood the impediment’, says Fraser.


Meanwhile, Fraser was finding powerful new ways to be heard. Early in the new year he had sought and gained a weekly spot on the local radio stations 3HA in Hamilton and 3YB in Warrnambool. He began giving short Sunday-night addresses to the electorate under the title Our Australia. With few breaks, Fraser gave these addresses to the electorate from the time of his pre-selection, in 1954, until his retirement from parliament, in 1983. They form a digest of Fraser’s developing political philosophy and a fair catalogue of the history of Wannon. To begin with, each talk took Fraser hours to record, on reel-to-reel tapes. Everything in the home had to stop. Tamie Fraser remembers that in the early years of their marriage, the recording would take place on the kitchen table, and the timer on the oven going off would mean the whole thing had to be started again. Fraser sweated over the early addresses, drafting and redrafting, listening to his recording and redoing it if it didn’t sound exactly right. ‘I couldn’t stand the sound of my own voice’, he says today. He wanted the talks to be predicated on the assumption that electors were intelligent and interested in politics, and that they had a stake in the result of disputes and debates. He consciously adopted the tone that he had learned from his tutors and lecturers in Oxford. In all his time there, including in the first year, when he was very clearly at sea, none of the brilliant people from whom he was learning had ever talked down to him or made him feel that they regarded themselves as his intellectual superiors, ‘although they very clearly were’. Now he began to address the people he wanted to represent.


The text of the radio talks was mailed to every local newspaper. Most ran them in full, or reported them as news stories. These were the days before television, when families gathered around the wireless in the evenings. Fraser’s talks became the stuff of conversation all over the electorate. It became commonplace for people to approach him to argue over what he had said. Partly, Fraser was introducing the people of Wannon to the ideas he had learned at Oxford. He was bringing something of the modernist perspective home, in the hope that it would take root under the big skies of the Western District. He was also a farm boy, and a practical man. One week he would talk about myxomatosis and new methods for killing rabbits; another week he would describe a new kind of cradle used for treating sheep’s feet and keeping them free of footrot; and in between, he would expand on his ‘vision of Australia’—which was the title of his very first radio talk, on 24 January 1954. This first public address is not a speech that sits easily with the present-day Fraser. It is full of the common rhetoric of the time—the threat from the North and the peril of the Asian masses to the Australian way of life. Fraser began by recounting the riches of Australia and the sacrifices of men in war, before turning to the threat.


 


In the last twenty-five years, the Asian races have asserted their own nationalism against influence from the Western countries. French armed forces are in difficulties in Indochina, where one million men have been fighting ceaselessly in the war against Viet Minh rebel or communist forces. Indonesians have done their utmost to take over their country, while it is only in the last twelve months that the British have cleared large areas of Malaya from communist terrorisation. Australia is faced with a double peril from the North, brought about by the teaming millions in these Asian lands. A thousand million living on a pannikin of rice a day: how much better some of them could do with Australia in their hands. These people are learning Western ways, and their recently aroused nationalism has been harnessed to the communist cause. Whether or not they have absorbed the communist doctrine, they are backed by the might of Russia. Their danger to us is very great. We have a land vast in size and empty of people. We cannot rely on America to defend us forever.10


Most expressions of the ‘yellow peril’ during Fraser’s time included latent racism. Was it there in Fraser’s talk as well? Doubtless there were listeners who heard it that way, but from Fraser’s point of view his ‘vision of Australia’ has to be considered in the context of other speeches. It was not race but communism that he was worried about. Fraser saw Australia through the prism of Toynbee’s theories on the rise and fall of civilisations, predicated on the ways in which nations responded to challenge and threat. He saw South-East Asia as the main testing ground for Western liberalism; but this was about methods of government, not about race.


In the early 1960s, several of Fraser’s radio talks were used to tell his electorate about the countries to the north, their inhabitants’ customs and habits, and their importance to Australia. In 1962, he gave his listeners an account of the visit to Canberra by the king and queen of Thailand. Fraser said that the Thais had ‘a long tradition of freedom’ and that the royal visit


 


should bring home to Australians that we are part of South-East Asia, and must live with South-East Asia. I wish more Australians when they go for their holidays abroad could perhaps travel to the countries of South-East Asia and learn something of the habits and customs of the people.11


He argued that Australia should be a ‘bridge’ between Asia and the West.


The second radio talk had a more pragmatic title: ‘Beef from the North’. It was about the best way of transporting cattle from the Kimberleys to southern abattoirs—by air or road. The following week his topic was wages, and how they should be set fairly. In this, he returned to his Oxford theme of the cruelty of the gold standard when it meant that deteriorations in foreign exchange must be reflected in unemployment. He repeated the utilitarian sentiment of his pre-selection speech: ‘The first consideration of any government must be the prosperity and happiness of its own people’. The following week he returned to the communist threat, and spelled out its nature in a talk titled ‘A Comparison of Governments’. He broadcast over the vast miles of Wannon:


 


In relating one government to another, three types must be considered. There is our own democratic government which allows free expression of the will of the people. There are regimes that rely solely on force to defend themselves both within and without. And most dangerously there are regimes, like Russian communism, which secure support for their rule by whipping up the fanaticism of their people for some cause. In this case the cause is domination of the world by the proletariat.


The danger of communism, he said, was that it offered ‘a false answer to all the world’s problems, and for this reason can attract the support of people who are too lazy to recognise the real value in life for themselves’. In Russian communism the ‘fanatical belief’ in the destiny of the proletariat had taken the place of religion.


 


Belief in such things, if it really grips a nation, whether it be right or wrong, is extraordinarily dangerous. We have seen how Hitler making the German people believe in their destiny as a ruling race led to a vast war. It was the belief of nearly every German that he should dominate the people of other countries that led to his whole-hearted support for Nazi Germany. It could be the belief of every communist in the inevitability of their revolution that may lead to the final step: actual war against the democracies.


For Fraser, communism was analogous to fanatical religion. He was still Weldon’s student, and suspicious of the metaphysic. He believed, with Locke, that the core of human knowledge and progress lay not in metaphysics but in experience and rationality. He told the electorate of Wannon: ‘The truth and real democratic way of life cannot be expressed in one catch-phrase or sentence, as can the essence of communism. It must be lived and experienced so that through time we will learn tolerance, sympathy and good will to all men’.12


For the following week’s radio talk Fraser turned to an exercise in imaginative writing, anticipating the imminent visit of the Queen to Wannon—the first time a reigning monarch had visited Australia.


 


The people of Wannon are anxious and expectant. It is bright and warm. A perfect summer’s day … Then a welcoming cry is heard from the outskirts which is drowned by many voices as the people see the royal car and in it Her Gracious Majesty Queen Elizabeth II. The Queen smiles and royally waves ...


He quickly moved on from imaginative description to stating why the Queen was important.


 


In this small figure is embodied the strength and happiness of the British peoples … The people see in her the manifestation of the British heritage, a tradition of freedom and of fairness which has been defended and enhanced from generation to generation … They see in her the victory of generosity, kindness and charity … It shows the pattern of a great Commonwealth of Nations … In each and every one of these lands, men and women are part of the British heritage which makes possible life without fear, and freedom from want.


Only ‘eternal vigilance against dangers both within and without’ made the Queen’s visit possible and guaranteed that she would be able to come again.13


The next month Fraser spoke on ‘A Great Fear Buried’: economic depression. He told the people of Wannon about Keynes, the International Monetary Fund and the wonderful ‘knowledge’ of how to prevent recession and depression. Two weeks later, he talked about footrot. He followed that up with an extraordinary address on the place of women, telling his listeners that in his travels around Wannon housewives often claimed to know nothing of politics. They told him he should speak to their husbands. This wasn’t good enough, said Fraser. In the eyes of the law, women took equal place ‘as people with feelings and emotions common to every person’. Fraser gave the women of Wannon some examples to think about. He quoted John Stuart Mill. He told them that Madam Pandit Nehru had just been elected as President of the United Nations’ General Council, presiding over an assembly of sixty nations. He talked about Florence Nightingale and the suffragettes, and reminded them that Australia was one of the first countries in the world to give women the vote. Finally, he talked about the Queen and the ‘second Elizabethan age’. Women’s advice was ‘not only desirable but necessary’ in every area of life, Fraser said. In voting, ‘Each one of us, every man and every woman, must think and give his or her judgement carefully’.14 It is hard to imagine what the housewives of Wannon made of this lecture, delivered by a young man not yet turned twenty-four. In the following week he spoke about jobs, and in the following about US beef imports.


On 6 April 1954, Menzies called the election for 29 May. It was the latest possible date. As is the way with governments in trouble, Menzies had delayed for as long as he could. Now the battle was on; but Fraser’s tone in his radio addresses hardly altered. His next topic was ‘Men for Australia’, in which he advocated increased migration.


 


The quality of the migrants we get depends upon the future Australia holds for them … If we accept them as Australians in every way then our new people will feel at home and will write back to the Old World encouraging others to come here … If these things are done we cannot fail to keep Australia free and happy, but if we don’t use the resources nature has given us in this land then other races will overshadow us.15


Two days after Fraser broadcast the talk, one of the most significant events in the political history of Australia took place. On 13 April Menzies announced to parliament that a Russian spy, Vladimir Petrov, had been operating in Australia and had defected to the West. This news, greeted with shock and fear around the nation, seemed to give substance to the fear of communism. Menzies announced a royal commission into Soviet espionage, and said Petrov was happy to help because ‘He no longer believes’.16 The move for the commission was supported by the Labor Party.


In the following week, there were violent anti-communist demonstrations at Sydney airport as Petrov’s wife, Evdokia, was escorted by KGB agents to her aircraft and then, when the plane landed at Darwin, was seized by Northern Territory police. The photos of Evdokia being roughly handled by the KGB agents became some of the best remembered Australian images of the 1950s, although in Wannon the issue was hardly mentioned.


Whole books have been written about the Petrov affair, and whether or not Menzies manipulated the timing of the announcement to help his election prospects. In fact, Menzies issued a directive to all Liberal candidates telling them that because the matter was being investigated by the royal commission it should not be allowed to become party-political: they were not to refer to Petrov in an election context.17 Fraser, like all other candidates, received and obeyed the directive. So it was that on 18 April, just five days after the announcement about Petrov, Fraser was talking about a far more prosaic threat: plagues of rabbits, and the use of myxomatosis to combat them.


The seriousness with which Menzies took the directive was emphasised when the Country Party politician Artie Fadden travelled to Hamilton to speak in Fraser’s support. Fraser recalls Fadden telling the crowd that the inquiry into Petrov was not a political matter, and that Menzies didn’t want it discussed; but he urged voters to consider: ‘Who would you want to implement the report when it comes out?’ The next day, Fadden took a call from a furious Menzies. ‘He told him he was never to do anything like that ever again.’


Fraser’s radio talks were causing a stir within the party. One day in mid May, when he was door-knocking in the tiny town of Edenhope in the western Wimmera, he received a message from the State President of the Liberal Party, JM Anderson, demanding that he drop everything and go to Melbourne. When he got there—six hours’ drive on dirt roads—he was asked to explain why he had been making statements without approval. Fraser recalls, ‘I said I was the candidate and I had to have a voice’. He was reprimanded, but when he reported the incident to Claude Austin the matter was taken to the electorate finance committee, and a curt message was sent back to party headquarters. If state headquarters wanted to talk to the candidate, they would have to do it through the Wannon campaign committee. ‘So in the end it was the State President who was rebuked by an independent Wannon. That independence of mind was important from then on. I always knew if I could get Wannon’s support for what I was doing and so long as I could justify what I had done, then that was enough.’


The radio addresses continued. Fraser talked about industrial arbitration: Australia’s ‘own invention’ and one of the things of which the country should be proud.


 


We must remember that nobody in the wide world had ever heard of such a thing as a basic wage until our Commonwealth Arbitration Court invented it. We must remember that it was the Arbitration Court that awarded first the 48-, then the 44-, and now the 40-hour week. We must remember that it was the Arbitration Court that put the prosperity pound onto the basic wage, which was rightly paid with no complaint and no protest.18


Then he was back to footrot and myxomatosis. His last talk before the election was a catalogue of the Menzies government’s record: the secret ballot had made it possible ‘for every decent unionist to have his say in his union affairs’; the government had cooperated with the unions, and this had isolated the extremists; taxation had been reduced; a comprehensive health plan had been introduced; pensions had been increased. ‘Never before has a government gone to the polls with such a record as that of this last Liberal—Country Party government of ours.’19


It was clear that the battle for Wannon would be close. The city-based media began to pay attention to the young farmer who was running against the established Labor man. The Melbourne Sun reported during the campaign that ‘The local Australian Labor Party members are taking Mr Fraser very seriously. They complain mildly that the Australian Labor Party central executive is not taking him seriously enough and is not giving them enough financial support’.20 Labor had had some bad luck: its candidate, Don McLeod, had been ill for more than half of the campaign, first with flu and then hospitalised with pneumonia. Meanwhile, Fraser had been everywhere, and was backed up by some big guns. Menzies as well as Fadden had visited the electorate and addressed large meetings.


It was nearly a week after the election before the result in Wannon was known. The headline in The Argus was ‘All Eyes on Wannon’, and it was right. Reporters made their way out west to interview the man who was expected to be both ‘the youngest, and the tallest man ever elected to an Australian parliament’.21 The Sun published an article about the young Fraser, illustrated with a picture of him leaning against a bench in a leather jacket, elastic-sided boots and working trousers, under the heading ‘Youngest Ever?’


 


He looks like Sir Edmund Hillary, 6 feet and 5 inches, lean and rugged, with a wave of long brown hair that tends to flap down over his forehead … Next time you are in the public gallery of the House of Representatives, look along the rows of government back benches and you’ll probably see him.


The article went on, suggestively, ‘Mr Fraser, an Oxford graduate in the Modern Greats … is neither married nor engaged’. Where once there had been shyness and awkwardness, Fraser was now described as ‘quietly proud but singularly composed … Mr Fraser’s speech reflects his Oxford training. It’s subdued and precise but not synthetically English. He’s the friendly, informal, outdoor type, his face suntanned by weeks of campaigning’. Fraser did not smoke, had covered more than twelve thousand miles through Wannon, and, if he won, promised to tour the electorate completely at least three times a year. Each tour would take about three weeks.22


The article and its picture made their way to a farmhouse in the neighbouring electorate of Corangamite, where they were seen by a young woman who had only recently left boarding school. Tamara Beggs was not particularly interested in politics, and had never heard of Malcolm Fraser. Seeing the picture of the young Edmund Hillary lookalike, she read the article then flipped the page impatiently. Running for parliament when you are only twenty-four? The man must be a complete fool and a bore, she decided. Two and a half years later, she would marry him.


In the meantime, with the election result still not known, The Argus editorialised under the headline ‘A Young Man Brings a Hope’.


 


The vigour and success of 24-year-old Malcolm Fraser’s fight for the Wannon federal seat stimulates hope that politics will soon cease to be the almost exclusive preserve of aging gentlemen who wish to spend the evening of their lives in profitable comfort, while they listen to their arteries clogging.


The article quoted Fraser as saying that he wanted to live to see twenty to thirty million people living in Australia. ‘There he declares the foresight and measures the responsibility of today’s youth … Old men may dream dreams, and young men may see visions. And who can say that parliament is not better off for a vision now and then?’23


It was not to be. Labor’s McLeod won the seat by just seventeen votes: an extraordinary result. In his final address, Fraser told the electorate that he would be back: he would contest the seat again; and in the meantime would keep travelling, trying to meet as many of them as possible.


The closeness of the result meant that Fraser had no trouble in regaining pre-selection in August 1955. He resumed his weekly radio talks. The first was delivered from Warrnambool, where he was studying the problems of the dairy industry.


In the months following Menzies’s narrow win, almost everything about the political landscape changed. Rather than being within reach of government, Labor all but self-destructed. Evatt had expected to win in 1954. Now he was in deep trouble in his own party, and with himself. He was convinced that the revelations about Petrov had been orchestrated to give substance to the Liberals’ claims about the communist threat. Most other commentators thought that the Petrov issue had hardly bitten in 1954; its impact was felt later, in 1955. The commentators blamed Evatt himself for his defeat. In the last weeks of the campaign he had made extravagant promises without clearing them with his own executive. Menzies had been able to pick him apart with ease for economic irresponsibility. Most disastrous of all for Labor, the Petrov Royal Commission was underway, and members of Evatt’s personal staff had been named as having connections with the Soviet embassy. Evatt insisted on appearing before the commission in September 1954, and made such outlandish and unfounded accusations that the judges terminated his leave to appear.

OEBPS/images/copy.jpg
O,

AustraBa

counet

I uy  —





OEBPS/images/pub.jpg
%T“E
MIEGUNYAH
PRESS





OEBPS/images/9780522868883.jpg
MALCOLM
FRASER

The Pohitical Memoirs

Y

MALCOLM FRASER
and MARGARET SIMONS

UPDATED COMMEMORATIVE EDITION

4





OEBPS/images/star.jpg





